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Thursday, February 20, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in the matter of EB-2012-0459, an application filed by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., dated July 3rd, 2013, with the Ontario Energy Board under section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.


They were seeking an order or orders approving rates for a five-year period commencing January 1st, 2014.


My name is Paula Conboy and I will be presiding over these proceedings over the next couple of weeks.  With me are Vice Chair Cynthia Chaplin and Board Member Emad Elsayed.


Parties have provided the Board with revised time estimates for the respective cross-examination.


Board Staff has compiled a new spreadsheet that lists the order of the witness panels and the expected time they will each be on the stand.  The Board will use this spreadsheet as its hearing plan and will require everyone to adhere to their revised times.


To that end, I would ask that intervenors and witnesses be as efficient and concise as possible with their cross-examination and response.


May I have appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.


MR. CASS:  Dennis O'Leary and Dave Stevens will also be appearing as counsel for Enbridge during the hearing.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett on behalf of BOMA.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken on behalf of the Energy Probe Research Foundation.  I would also like to make an appearance for Mr. David MacIntosh, who is somewhere down there, for Energy Probe.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  Madam Chair, if I could, I have some brief comments.


If you look at the cross-examination schedule, you will see that Energy Probe has no cross-examination time scheduled.  I can assure you that is not because we're not interested in this proceeding.  Rather, it is because Energy Probe's involved in five other proceedings in the next two weeks.


So we will be monitoring the hearing through the transcripts and providing submissions in due course.  And with that, I would ask to be excused.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Aiken.


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.


MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Board Members.  Ian Mondrow on behalf of the Industrial Gas Users Association, or IGUA.


MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning.  John Vellone on behalf of APPrO.


MR. ROSS:  Good morning.  Murray Ross for TransCanada.


MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. SEBALJ:  And Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel.


MS. CONBOY:  Good morning.

Procedural Matters:


The spreadsheet identifies who will go first and who will go last, but I am not sure about the order after that.


I will ask, if you don't have -- this isn't going to be an issue until after the break, but if parties could get together and determine an order of cross-examination, if that hasn't been arrived at yet, that would be great.


Are there any preliminary matters, Mr. Cass?  I see a bunch of material that has been filed here; perhaps you could walk us through what we see on our dais here.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Madame Chair.


First, this is not on your dais.  I understand, though, that there is a CD available behind where Board Staff are sitting, with the updated evidence for the case.  If there is anyone who does not have that, copies are available behind Board Staff.


Now, as to the items on the dais, Madam Chair, we had prepared a hearing plan.  Now, it is essentially not significantly different from the spreadsheet that you have been referring to.  I think there has been a change in the positioning of a particular panel, but that has been passed around and it was my proposal to put that forward as the hearing plan.


It's also Enbridge's idea that with this hearing plan, it identifies the evidence to be addressed by the panels, it identifies the positions of the various witnesses, so that examinations-in-chief can be minimized.  It's not my intention to spend time on qualifications in examinations-in-chief.  The CVs can be found at Exhibit A1, tab 6, schedule 1.


So it was my thought that the hearing plan that's been passed up could be marked as an exhibit, and then it could stand in lieu of the questions that might normally be asked to identify the witnesses and talk about their qualifications.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  So that's the only difference between the spreadsheet that we have in front of us and what you are about to give us, is the identification of -- and qualifications of the witnesses.  But in terms of timing and order of panels, that's the same as the spreadsheet we have in front of us; is that correct?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I stand corrected.  I had thought that there was a slight difference in the panels, but I am corrected now and there is not.  So they should be the same, the spreadsheet and the hearing plan should be the same.


MS. CONBOY:  Great.


MR. CASS:  In terms of order of panels.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Is that something that we should have -- we don't have that in front of us, or we do have the hearing plan in front of us?


MR. CASS:  It was passed around.


MS. SEBALJ:  I am told that it is on the dais somewhere.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can I ask whether there is any difference between what my friend is just referring to and the first five columns of the Board Staff material?  I can't see any difference.


MR. CASS:  I don't think that there is.  It was just our intent to have some document marked as an exhibit, Mr. Shepherd, so that we won't spend the time on identifying the witnesses' titles and qualifications.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  This is part of our efficiency measure, Mr. Shepherd, to get through all of these panels.


So yes, let's mark that, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  This is the one without times.  It simply identifies the panels and the witnesses and their titles; correct?  So we can mark that Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  WITNESS PANEL NAMES AND TITLES.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, the second item would be a small presentation.  I don't propose to make any opening statement in this case.  Instead, the first panel, who are in their seats already, will make a very brief introduction to the case, and there is a handout that relates to that.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  So in lieu of any opening statement from counsel, the first panel will make an introduction to the case after they have been sworn, and so on.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Should we mark that, Ms. Sebalj?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  This is the slide deck marked "Examination-in-chief, panel 1, opening remarks."  And it is K1.2.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SLIDE DECK MARKED "EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF, PANEL 1, OPENING REMARKS."


MR. CASS:  Those are all the preliminary matters I have.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Does anyone else have any preliminary matters before we affirm the witnesses?


MR. JANIGAN:  Madam Chair, Michael Janigan for VECC.  We have some cross-examination for the different panels.  However, the best use of our time is not necessarily to stay in this hearing room to wait for our time to arrive, so that we are going to try to coordinate our time as best as possible.  So if the Panel will excuse my absence during the course of this hearing when we are not cross-examining, we will be also able to pursue matters in some of the other proceedings that are going on over the course of the next two weeks.


MS. CONBOY:  Absolutely.  And that counts for everybody else.  We recognize that Niagara-on-the-Lake, a settlement conference is now in the ADR room.  And there may be parts on these 10 or 11 days that we have that not everybody needs to be here.


I will ask you, however, to make sure that you read the transcripts, so that in your cross-examination we don't have to go over ground that's been covered by another intervenor or another party, please.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Are your witnesses ready to be affirmed?


MR. CASS:  Yes, they are.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Cass, I think you were briefed, in terms of the group affirmation we're going to try today?


MR. CASS:  Yes, indeed, and the witnesses are aware of that.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1


Kevin Culbert, Affirmed


Ralph Fischer, Affirmed


Norm Ryckman, Affirmed


Michael Lister, Affirmed


MS. CONBOY:  Should we mark that?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  This is the slide deck marked examination in-chief Panel 1 opening remarks, and it is K1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  EDGI EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BOOKLET - OPENING REMARKS.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Please go ahead.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In case there is anyone in the room who doesn't know this, the witnesses are, starting furthest away from me, Kevin Culbert, Michael Lister, Ralph Fischer, Norm Ryckman.


Mr. Fischer, can you confirm, please, that the evidence addressed by this panel, including answers to interrogatories and technical conference evidence, was prepared or given by or under the direction and control of the panel?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, I can.


MR. CASS:  And can you confirm that the evidence I have described is accurate, to the best of the panel's knowledge or belief?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And on behalf of the panel, you can adopt that as the panel's evidence in this proceeding, can you?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, I do.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Mr. Fischer, could I ask you to briefly take the Board through the overview of the case that's been marked as Exhibit K1.2.


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, I will.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


I would like to start with a high-level overview, the next slide, please, of the key elements of our proposed customized IR plan.


So what it is, it is a five-year plan, which is a revenue cap.  And by revenue cap, what I mean is that it is a forecast of allowed revenue, a forecast of all cost elements with embedded productivity in it.


We are proposing a new incentive mechanism, a sustainable efficiency incentive mechanism, abbreviated SEIM, to further incent the company to find efficiencies that are sustained beyond the end of the IR term.


So that is a new element from our first generation IR.  There is a few elements that are carried forward from the first generation IR, and one of that is the earnings sharing mechanism, so it is the same as what we had for that first generation IR.


In terms of deferral and variance accounts, most of those are carried forward, as well.


A new further element is a performance and -- performance reporting and measurement proposal.  Also Z factor, which was a component of the first generation IR, continues in this proposal, but we have updated and revised the language associated with Z factor.  Off ramps, again another element that is carried forward from the first generation IR.


So just to summarize, there is a number of elements that are carried forward from the first generation IR, as well as a few additional new elements.


If I could go to the next slide  So the customized IR approach clearly is something that is different than the I-X approach that we adopted for the first generation IR.


And so the customized IR plan is designed to achieve a number of objectives.  So, first of all, it is to address extraordinary capital requirements, and what I mean, extraordinary, basically what I am saying is our forecast of capital, which has productivity embedded in it, is well in excess of what is embedded in rates historically.


So having said that, the traditional I-X IRM will not cover costs, and we have some analysis that is part of our evidence that demonstrates that.  And it doesn't allow, under any scenario that we have looked at, EGD the opportunity to earn a fair return.

There are benefits clearly with this proposal that we see, and the revenue cap does provide rate predictability, and it decouples revenues from future costs.  So the company is accepting risk, cost risk, on a go-forward basis, which is an important element of this plan.


The customized IR plan is informed by the custom IR model available to electric utilities.  So the custom IR model, although not adopted identically, is one of three models available to electric utilities, and the Board, in their Renewed Regulatory Framework Report in the fall of 2012, recognized that electric utilities have different circumstances and that an appropriate model should fit those circumstances.  And I will tell -- a little bit more to say about that later.


The IRM that we're proposing is also informed by building blocks approach, again, elements from building blocks approaches that have been adopted in other jurisdictions, primarily Australia and the U.K.  There are elements in and learnings from that that we have taken and that we have incorporated in our proposal.


The plan is also consistent with OEB's objectives and embodies the fundamental elements of an IR plan.


Next slide.  So just to talk a little bit further about consistency with OEB objectives.  So the custom IR, as I said, is one of three methods available to electric utilities, and this is a quote and it is in our evidence, as well, from that RRFE.  So the custom IR method is:

"...most appropriate for distributors with significantly large multi-year or highly variable investment commitments that exceed historical levels."


That is a fair description of the circumstance that Enbridge finds itself in over the next five years.


Further, it sets rates for five years, as I mentioned, embeds productivity, and it provides for incentives through the earnings sharing mechanism, which I discussed earlier is carried forward from the first generation IR, plus the proposed new sustainable efficiency incentive mechanism.


So in a sense EDG defined further efficiencies through both of those, and to manage costs tightly, costs, by the way, we demonstrate in our evidence that we are going to be challenged to meet those costs, both operating and maintenance and capital costs.

So it does protect the interests of consumers with respect to price, reliability and quality of service.  And the next point I made already with respect to the sustainable efficiency mechanism, and it creates an environment conducive to investment for the benefit of customers and shareholders.


And what we mean by that is that the custom IR plan, in our view, gives Enbridge the opportunity to earn the fair return as opposed to an I-X approach.


Next slide, please.  So just to discuss a little bit further on that, we did evaluate a number of I-X formulaic approaches.  Three are listed here:  Traditional I-X; I-X with Y factors for the two major reinforcements projects; and with the assistance of Concentric, we also analyzed the potential for an I-X with an ICM-type methodology that is available to electric utilities.


And last we also examined the Union settlement framework and the I-X approach embedded in that to see if that is an alternative.  And with respect to all of them, none of them did work, so the last point being reasonable I and X factors would potentially recover operating expenses, but none of these approaches would recover capital and allow the EGD the opportunity to earn a fair return.


Next slide, please.  So over the last few months, a number of questions have been raised by interested parties, and I would just like to go through a few of those questions and how we feel our proposal does address that -- do address them.


So in terms of evidence of productivity, we provide extensive evidence in our application to explain how productivity is embedded both in our operating and maintenance budget forecast, as well as our capital forecast.  And with respect to the capital forecast, it was iterated over many steps and developed through that iteration process, and the evidence that we have provided clearly demonstrates, in our view, that it is embedded in those forecasts through the prioritization of expenditures, and clearly we believe those budgets, requested budgets, are reasonable.


Then, finally, the last point on this slide.  We had third party validation of productivity embedded in those cost forecasts, and we did that through a number of methods.  We did that through benchmarking analysis, we did it through TFP analysis and PFP analysis -- partial factor productivity analysis -- around demonstrating productivity around our O&M costs.  And that is that last point there, the O&M projection versus an I-X rate path.


Next slide, please?  So a further question that did come up was:  Is our plan a cost of service or even a targeted PBR model?


So our proposed plan is neither of those.  What it is, it is a comprehensive model that addresses both O&M and capital, capital costs.  It has productivity embedded in it, as I mentioned.  It is a multi-year revenue cap, and with that revenue cap in place future revenues are decoupled from future costs, which is a major source of the risk that Enbridge is taking with this model.


Next slide, please?  The question around risk and risk being shifted to ratepayers.


So the answer to that is no.  The establishment of five years of allowed revenues creates asymmetrical risks for the ratepayer and shareholder.  And again, as I just mentioned, that is primarily around the risk around the future costs that this proposal has Enbridge taking.


So the cost forecasts set today may, in fact, differ from actual revenue requirements.  So Enbridge's shareholder bears the risk associated with revenues falling short of the approved amounts.  If Enbridge performs well, it will share earnings with ratepayers through the proposed earnings sharing mechanism.


The next slide, a question around the adequacy of incentives and the reasonableness of the forecasts.


So the allowed revenue is fixed for five years.  The company is at risk for additional capital spending and O&M.  And around capital spending, our evidence talks about variable costs and the potential likelihood that those costs could be incurred which are not included in our capital budget.


So the company will be challenged to meet the budgeted cost forecasts.  The mechanism or the proposal, as I mentioned, has incentives around ESM and the proposed SEIM.  And we believe we have thorough and complete evidence on capital spending that is required for a safe and reliable system.


Finally, we believe Enbridge's customers will be well served by our proposal by providing for, first of all, substantial and necessary investments to ensure safety and reliability.


It provides a predictable rate path.


It results in customer distribution bills which are projected over the five years of the IR term to average 1.4 percent annually, which is well below expected inflation.


Enbridge is clearly incented to find further efficiencies, and with the proposed sustainable efficiency incentive mechanism to ensure efficiencies that are found survive beyond the end of the IR term.


It is also well served by the lower gas costs that will result from the construction of the approved GTA project.


So, Mr. Cass, that ends my slide presentation.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is the examination-in-chief of the panel.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Shepherd, you are up first.  We're going to break between 10:30 and quarter to 11:00, and I will leave that in part to you.  In terms of if there is a natural break in your line of questioning any time between then, you can let me know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not sure if I can handle the responsibility, but I will do my best.


MS. CONBOY:  Well, I will step in, then, if it is too much for you.


[Laughter]

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, witnesses, you all know me, but for the record my name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.


Madam Chair, I will be referring to two documents that I provided to the Board last night and filed.  The first is a spreadsheet that was prepared by SEC with the assistance of Enbridge, and it's headed up "Application of approved Union Gas," et cetera, et cetera.  A one-page spreadsheet.


MS. SEBALJ:  K1.3


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  SEC SPREADSHEET.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second is Exhibit A, tab 2 from EB-2013-0202, which is the Board-approved IR plan for Union Gas.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  K1.4.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  EXHIBIT A, TAB 2 FROM EB-2013-0202, BOARD-APPROVED IR PLAN FOR UNION GAS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have some extra copies here.  I provided copies to everybody who asked and there are a few extra copies here if anybody didn't get them.


I do have some preliminary questions first before I get to that stuff.


The first is -- and these questions are probably to you, Mr. Fischer, but anybody can answer them unless I specifically talk about who should answer something, like Mr. Culbert.


At the technical conference we asked for the 2013 actuals, and you said that they would be approved on February 14th.  So they have been approved and your financial statements have been made public, so they're no longer embargoed, but I haven't seen the financial statements filed in this proceeding.  You promised you would and I haven't seen them.  Where are they?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can answer that question, Mr. Shepherd.  The financial statements can be filed.  They have been released, as we had mentioned.


What we don't have yet is the utility, I will say, earnings results and ROE results.  My group is still working on that.  It takes a bit of time to go through all of the analyses to ensure non-utility adjustments are made properly, and various things.  My group is still working at that, but I don't have utility results, but we certainly do have the financial results, corporate financial results.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am a little surprised at that, because your MD&A actually refers to most of the adjustments that you would make for non-GAAP adjustments.  It is already in the MD&A, so I don't understand why you have still work to do.


MR. CULBERT:  Those adjustments are from a corporate perspective, though, Mr. Shepherd.  They are not utility interpretations.  The corporate financials are the corporate financials.


Our utility results -- which my group handles, as you know -- has to go through and convert the corporate financials into utility results.  We're in the process of doing so; we just have not completed the analysis, which takes the better part of two to three weeks for us to do.  So we're still doing that, and we're hopeful that we will have results by sometime next week, hopefully the end of next week.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess, Madam Chair, I am a little bit disadvantaged here.  I would have thought this would have been done by now.


If the board of directors approved the financial statements last Friday, which they did, and they were released to the public, the company has had ample time to have utility results ready.  And they knew the hearing was coming up.


So I'm a little bit concerned.


MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, that is not fair for Mr. Shepherd to give evidence that the company has had ample time.


In fact, the evidence just given by Mr. Culbert is it takes a matter of weeks and there has not been time.  That is not a fair statement by Mr. Shepherd.


The company is of course prepared to file the corporate financial statements that are available, and as Mr. Culbert indicated, we will file the utility information as soon as that can be done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I -- the only thing I would ask, Madam Chair, is that some of my questions for this panel require that information, and so if necessary at the end of the hearing, if we have time, I would like to be able to call them back and ask those questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Well, let's cross that bridge when we come to it, Mr. Shepherd.


We will have the corporate financials filed.  We can mark it as an undertaking today.  The company has undertook to file their projections and their results sometime next week or when they come in.  That is what we've got.


So let's at least the first one -- well, we can mark both of them as an undertaking, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  As a single undertaking?  So the corporate financials, J1.1 --


MS. CONBOY:  Let's do them as separate, because I understand the first request can be filed right away and the second one will be sometime next week.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the corporate financials will be J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO FILE CORPORATE FINANCIAL RESULTS.


MS. SEBALJ:  And the utility financials will be J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO FILE UTILITY FINANCIAL RESULTS.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please proceed, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Mr. Culbert, the corporate financials are available.  We can get them today, I guess, right?


MR. CULBERT:  I would presume, subject to check, but I will check with the financial group.  And I am certain they probably could be, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  The next sort of preliminary thing I want to ask about is your strategic plan.


We asked in an interrogatory for your strategic plan, and your response was that it wasn't relevant to this proceeding and it was confidential, anyway, so we couldn't look at it.


Then at the technical conference you said, No, it's not actually that.  It is that because of an accounting error it is no longer valid.


So can you help us out?  Why can't we see the strategic plan?


MR. FISCHER:  So, Mr. Shepherd, we don't think there is a relevancy associated with the strategic plan.  So it contains businesses beyond the Enbridge utility included -- that is included in that plan.


It is outdated, so it is not meaningful anymore with respect to primarily the accounting error that I think was discussed at the technical conference.


And, yeah, I think that is all I have to say.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It exists; right?  There is still a strategic plan?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your board of directors has not withdrawn it yet; right?


MR. FISCHER:  We are working on a new strategic plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are starting that in May; right?


MR. FISCHER:  I am not sure of the start date, but it is -- it may be underway now.  I am not sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  At the technical conference, Mr. Mandyam said you were starting it in May, but there is currently a valid strategic plan; right?


MR. FISCHER:  There is a strategic plan that was completed last year; that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Approved by your board of directors?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it has not been withdrawn by your board of directors?


MR. FISCHER:  It hasn't been withdrawn.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I am going to ask you to undertake to provide it.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, as has been alluded to, this subject was addressed at the technical conference.  I should have brought the transcript with me --


MS. CONBOY:  We have read it, Mr. Cass, yes.


MR. CASS:  My recollection, Madam Chair, is there were two reasons why the strategic plan was not produced.  The first reason, going from recollection, is that it has rolled-up numbers.  There are not individual numbers in it for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The numbers are rolled up with Enbridge Gas Distribution and other businesses together.


So it's not even a matter of redacting information from other businesses that's not relevant.  It is all rolled up in the numbers.  That was the first point, as I recall.


The second point, as has already been stated, is that as a result of an accounting error that is discussed in the evidence in this proceeding, the numbers in the strategic plan -- I'm just trying to think of the correct way to put it -- are no longer meaningful.  They are not numbers that the company can live to or can plan for because of the accounting error that was underlying the numbers in the plan.


Those were the two reasons given for the plan not being relevant in these proceedings.


MS. CONBOY:  Is there a confidentiality issue?


MR. CASS:  I think if it were to be produced, the company would wish that would be done in confidence, yes.  The first issue is relevance, and, if it were to be produced, I think the company would be requesting confidential treatment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I recognize, I think, that some aspects of this plan will be confidential, and the Board has handled that before.  I don't think that it is an issue.


The concern that some of the historical data is now adjusted, has to be adjusted, is not, in our view, a meaningful complaint.  And certainly the people who are most able to determine whether it is relevant are the Board.


So if you can't see it, you can't determine whether it is relevant, and we think it should be provided.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't know if this is a question for Mr. Cass or Mr. Lister, but what significance does the strategic plan hold still?  I mean, if the board of directors hasn't withdrawn it, is it still governing the operations of the company in any way?

MR. FISCHER:  No, it really isn't, because of the -- it is really not relevant to today's operation, primarily with respect to the accounting error that I had spoken of earlier.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But is there anything to -- is there any documentation to kind of support that view that it is no longer an operable plan?


MR. FISCHER:  No.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And, Mr. Shepherd, why, if this was asked in an IR, are you waiting until now to ask for it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I have not had an opportunity to have the Board decide that we have to see it.  I have asked for it twice.  I got two different explanations.  I got an explanation it was not relevant because -- and it was confidential.


Then I got an explanation that it was no longer valid, which was entirely new, at the technical conference.  All I want to do is let everybody see it.   If it turns out it is not relevant, then we won't waste time on it.


MS. CONBOY:  Give us a minute, please.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, we're a little troubled in terms of the timing of this request, to wait for the oral hearing, and figure that if you have asked for it twice, there could have been a motion filed seeking it as opposed to at this point having to deal with submissions on confidentiality.


We're going to talk about this.  The Panel will talk about this over the break and we will give you our decision at that point.  But if you could please continue?  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me follow up on the accounting error, because that is going to affect a lot of the various discussions we have on past information and future information.


Can you give us a brief description of the accounting error and what it meant?


MR. CULBERT:  Thank you for that, Mr. Shepherd.


Yes, I can.  I will boil it down as best I can.  The accounting error was a breakdown in a financial analysis control.


So as a result of the error that was occurring, there were amounts that ought to have been put through the P&L, the profit and loss statement, as gas costs.  They weren't.  They remained resident in the balance sheet, and because of the magnitude of the error, it was sort of masked within the financial analysis of what that analysis believed the PGVA value to be.


So until such time as the amount had accumulated to a substantial amount, it wasn't really visible, necessarily, to the -- I will say the analysis that was done and was corroborated through the early years by our external third party audit, our audit company.


In September of this year, the accumulation of the amounts in the analysis were discovered.  We went through an extensive analysis of what had happened and what it meant with respect to the PGVA balance, which is where the amounts were resident, and we discovered in fact that the regulatory analysis of the PGVA balances was done correctly, which was passed on to the rate design group for clearance through ongoing rate rider of the PGVA, but the financial analysis had not been done correctly and was leaving an amount sitting in the GL in the PGVA, even though those amounts weren't being put through rate riders.


So that is the essence of the error.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You cleared the PGVA properly?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it came back to zero, but on the financials it didn't come back to zero?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.  It came back to zero in terms of the rolling 12-month clearance for the amounts being put through the regulatory process, but the financial results were leaving amounts sitting on the balance sheet.


So from a forecast perspective of PGVA, nothing was done incorrectly.  It was just our actual financial results weren't actually clearing the amounts that were being cleared through the rate rider.


So it left amounts sitting in the balance sheet for each of 2010, 2011 and 2012.  The error was corrected in 2013, so there is no error in 2013.  It has been corrected as of the end of the third quarter.


What it meant was there was an amount of gas costs in each of the three years, 2010 through 2012, which did not get recorded, which meant the utility results that would have been presented in previous cases -- and there was an undertaking or interrogatory provided in this proceeding.


MR. LISTER:  If I could help, it is issue B17.EGDI.SEC.78.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That has the numbers in it?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, as well as TCU1.8.  There was information provided in response to Board Staff question at the -- actually, SEC technical conference question.  So the information was provided there.

What the company can do is update -- there was an Interrogatory A10.EGD.CCC.12, which provided the historical results up to 2012 before the accounting error adjustment.  We can provide an undertaking to show you what would have occurred with the accounting errors put through the financials.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that would be useful.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO SHOW IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING ERRORS ON FINANCIAL RESULTS.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this is a gas cost error, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the effect was that it hit your earnings statement, your P&L, in 2013?

MR. CULBERT:  The accounting error for 2013?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Did you restate prior years, or did you simply take the hit in 2013?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  What happens is there is a revised set of statements for the previous years.  We didn't do a restatement of financials, a revised -- revised calculation of the 2010 through 2012 statements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your net income for 2013 is not overstated?


MR. CULBERT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or, sorry, understated?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  There is no error in the 2013 results.  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This accounting error is material enough to explain in your most recent financial statements?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  It wasn't material enough to do a restatement of previous financials, but we did do a revision and it was enough to put a note in the MD&A.  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Because that is gas costs, I am not sure I understand how it affects the rest of your strategic plan.  It doesn't affect your operating and capital cost, does it?


MR. CULBERT:  No -- well, I shouldn't say no.  I am not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  In any material way?


MR. CULBERT:  I am not completely familiar with the strategic plan, but what I can say is that as a result of earnings results in prior years, there were expectations that were built into a strategic plan in terms of potential experiences going forward.  And we don't know, necessarily, what those projections may have been.  At least I don't, because I wasn't involved in the strategic plan.


So we would need to look at the strategic plan to see if, in fact, there were expectations of past experiences built into future expectations.  And we don't know the implication of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess -- you have already filed information that tells us the revised regulatory return on equity in all of those years after the accounting error is fixed?


MR. CULBERT:  For past fiscal periods, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We know that you still made your Board-approved in every year, right?  On a normalized basis you made it every year, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Sorry, I am just looking at my page that has the results on it.  On a normalized basis, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, the 2013 isn't on your list but we now have 2013, and you made it in 2013 too, didn't you?


MR. CULBERT:  Until I produce those results, I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't done the calculation, but we have seen your financial statements.  We know you made $176 million in distribution on a normalized basis.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is going to be enough to cover it, isn't it?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  So what you're asking about the strat plan, though, Mr. Shepherd, is:  What are the implications in the strat plan?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, I am not asking about the strat plan right now.  I am trying to get a sense of whether the accounting error means that we have to look at any of the information in the application differently.


And it sounds to me like because it is gas costs, all the rest of the stuff is pretty reliable data still.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  As I said, the forecasting of gas costs was not affected.  It was just the recording of actuals in the financials because of an analysis that had a control error.  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Okay.  So then the third sort of general thing I want to ask about is you filed K1.1, and I have to admit I haven't -- I hadn't looked at this list of witnesses carefully prior to today.  I mean, I looked as it but, you know, when you sit down to do cross you look at it more carefully.


Are any of the witnesses members of your executive management team?


MR. FISCHER:  Panel 2, Jim Sanders is a member of the executive management team.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  He is the only one, right?  Because I looked and he is the only VP on the list, and your EMT doesn't have anybody who is not a VP, do they?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  He is the only EMT member.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I am going to invite you to explain that.  You are asking for $6 billion.  Is there a reason why you didn't have any senior management here?


MR. CASS:  I think the reason, Mr. Shepherd, was the company was endeavouring to bring the very best witnesses with the most knowledge of the contents of the case, what was done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just asking the witnesses if they want to explain it.  No?  Okay.


Let me turn, then, to K1.2.  Now -- and actually, Madam Chair, it is now 25 after 10:00, and I will probably be half an hour, at least, on this.  Do you want to take a break now?


MS. CONBOY:  Sure.  So we will break for 15 minutes.  We will be back at 20 to.

--- Recess taken at 10:22 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:44 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Before you continue, Mr. Shepherd, the Panel did have a chance to discuss the issue of the strategic plan and we will direct Enbridge to file that strategic plan today on a confidential basis.  And if any parties object to the strategic plan remaining confidential, I would ask that you talk to Board Staff, and then the Panel will make provisions, if necessary, for written or oral argument, whatever is most efficient.


Staff will have declaration and undertakings available over the luncheon break for people to sign, if they would like to see the strategic plan, but, Mr. Shepherd, you will have to accommodate this within your existing time frame.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  So please continue with your cross.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I should mark that as an undertaking.  It is J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE EDGI STRATEGIC PLAN.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so now I would like to go to K1.2, which was very helpful, Mr. Fischer.  Thank you.


I want to ask about a number of things in this, starting at page 2 of your presentation.  So you have referred to this as a five-year revenue cap, and it's a revenue cap on the basis that you are asking the Board to forecast -- or to approve revenue levels for five years; right?


MR. FISCHER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The approval is on the basis of a build-up of forecast costs; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is the same as a five-year cost of service; correct?


MR. FISCHER:  No.  No, it's not.  A cost of service determination is traditionally a forward test year one year out.  Our proposal is a five-year term with embedded productivity, as I discussed in the opening, and also the introduction of two efficiency mechanisms, which is clearly different than what would be in place in a forward one-year test year cost of service application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the differences between this and a five-year cost of service would be, one, it is five years instead of one year.  So it is not cost of service, because cost of service is one year.


Secondly, you have built productivity into your forecast, and, third, you have two components, the SEIM and the ESM, that would not normally be in a cost of service, a forward test year cost of service; is that right?


MR. FISCHER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, before I get to those components, you said it is a five-year revenue cap with annual adjustments, because you are not actually asking the Board today to set your rates for five years; right?  You're asking them to set your rates for one year?


MR. FISCHER:  For 2014, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you are asking the Board to approve provisional allowed revenues for the next four years after that, right, but they're not final yet?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  I can comment on that, Mr. Shepherd.  Yes, we're asking the Board to approve provisional amounts, placeholder amounts, which will be adjusted by updating our volumetric production projections in each of the final four years of the five-year term, and the impacts of those volumetric projections on gas costs and gas-related storage carrying costs, et cetera.


But what Mr. Fischer I think was alluding to is, in a typical cost of service, you would be looking at experiences of the past historical years and/or bridge years and adjusting forward test years as you go.


What we're doing here is fixing everything other than volumetric and gas cost-related elements, fixing them now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Y factors and deferral and variance accounts?


MR. CULBERT:  That's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have quite a long list of things that will adjust each year; right?


MR. CULBERT:  We have deferral and variance accounts which were adjacent to the 2013 approved rates, which were taken into consideration with respect to the rates set in that proceeding, and controllable costs resident in 2013, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have anywhere in the evidence a comprehensive list of the components of your revenues that you are proposing to adjust each year?


MR. CULBERT:  Just a second.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CULBERT:  I can't recall if this is a comprehensive document, Mr. Shepherd.


As we have stated -- did you ask about the revenue amounts we're looking to change?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You're asking the Board to approve provisional allowed revenues, but that number will actually change each year based on a number of factors; right?


Do we have a list of all those things that are going to change the revenue number, or let me put it to you another way, because I know you do the applications each year for rates; right?


You actually build a model that factors everything in.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  So the only changes that would occur in terms of the allowed revenue calculation again are, when we update our volumetric forecast, we would update our projection of gas costs for the upcoming year, which of course would get adjusted in QRAM processes throughout the year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it flows through?


MR. CULBERT:  They are flow-through items.  So those are our projections of the allowed revenue amounts that would change automatically in future rate proceedings.  All of the rest of the allowed revenues we're asking to be set now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So CIS, for example, CIS customer care.


MR. CULBERT:  CIS is a Y factor pass-through.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not set now?


MR. CULBERT:  It is set now in terms of what the five-year amounts are, because we have a separate settlement agreement, as you are aware.  So the amounts for CIS customer care, we will take out the amount the Board has approved for 2014 and we will input the amount that the Board has approved for 2015.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MR. CULBERT:  And those won't change from what we have projected as of right now in terms of the allowed revenue amounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are those numbers still on a per customer basis?  The customer care numbers were originally set on a per customer basis; right?


MR. CULBERT:  They were set such that if a projection of the customers per the ABSU agreement, from my recollection, changed, the company will update what those amounts are, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is still true?


MR. CULBERT:  That is still true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then those revenue numbers are not known yet.  They have to be adjusted for customer numbers?


MR. CULBERT:  They're not known today.  Those are placeholders.  What is known is that the agreement has an approval of the manner in which those revenues will be recoverable in future years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a formula?


MR. CULBERT:  And there is a formula.  So those will change in future years, but the process for changing those is known now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly with DSM, you have an application coming up?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know what those numbers will be?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  So our proposal is we have a placeholder, and if and/or when the Board approves a different level of DSM spend, that is what we would put into rates in future proceedings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly with pension costs, you don't know what those are.  You will adjust those each year?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  Our projection was to change those each year, because parties to the 2013 agreement agreed to a variance account treatment going forward.  So, yes, we are proposing to change those and put the variance account around those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have also proposed to adjust cost of capital each year, but now you are proposing to adjust that each year based on a forecast today, not updated forecast?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  We're proposing that our forecast today will stay in effect.  We will not change those in future proceedings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, one of the ways you say that this application is different from cost of service is that you built productivity into the O&M and capital forecast.  So my first question is:  Don't you do that every time you file for cost of service anyway?  Isn't that part of the process, is to build in as much productivity as you can, as much efficiency as you can at least, every time you do a budget?


MR. FISCHER:  So, Mr. Shepherd, what is clearly different with this five-year application is that we're building in productivity for five years.  It is not one year out.


The risk associated with forecasting costs beyond a year is clearly great.  So, you know, there certainly is that aspect to it that differentiates it from a one-year cost of service.


And we are proactively demonstrating productivity over that period of time.  On the O&M side, as I discussed, we do that through a PFP test associated and measuring that against what our budget is.


So it is clearly much more extensive process in terms of demonstrating productivity and embedding productivity than in just one year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not qualitatively different from what you do every year when you set budgets; right?


What I mean is the department asked for a gazillion dollars, and the EMT says:  No, you can't have a gazillion dollars.  Here is what you can have.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CULBERT:  I would say it is somewhat qualitatively different, Mr. Shepherd, in that, again, in periods of cost of service, where you are using past information to affect your forecasts going forward in terms of productivities that can be achieved or possibly can be achieved, you have the benefit of the most recent historical results and experiences.


In this application, we're living with forecasts of productivities that you mentioned.  The company certainly does a budget; the EMT looks at it and says:  No, that is not a reasonable forecast of costs per se.  So we're going to fix productivities in their entirety right now.  We won't have the experience of past historical results to readjust the projections of productivities and efficiencies going forward.


So it is somewhat different.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are setting the budget based on past historical results, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, but you don't get to update your expectations with the most recent historical results.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I can distil this, it is harder to forecast for five years than one year?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is more risk?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is also true, though, that when you are talking about productivity, there is more opportunity if you have a longer period of time, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.  That's a reasonable assumption.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is also true, isn't it, that if you start from a very high number and then cut it back, that is not as hard to achieve as if you start from a low number and cut it back?


So for example, in 2014, you will confirm that the number you started with was a 7.8 percent increase in OM&A, right?  This is the number you agreed to at the technical conference?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. FISCHER:  Yeah, Mr. Shepherd, I think I need to defer that question to the O&M panel, in terms of how they arrived at the budgeted amount and from where they started from and where they ended up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're going to tell me:  No, that things about productivity you have to ask the first panel.  So I am asking you:  How is that productivity, if you start with 7.8 percent increase?

MR. LISTER:  I think maybe I can offer some assistance.  I think it would be fair to ask those questions of the particular O&M panel and capital panel.  Their evidence, in particular, describes in detail how they have approached productivity and how they have embedded productivity into each of O&M and capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So they won't tell me no, the productivity mechanism, I have to come back to you guys?

MR. LISTER:  I wouldn't expect that they would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me talk, then, at a general level.


You will agree that the higher the number you start with, the easier it is to get productivity gains, right?

MR. LISTER:  Which number are you referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you start with a 30 percent increase in your OM&A, then it is not that hard to get it down by 10 percent, right?

MR. LISTER:  Are you talking at a very theoretical level?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Hypothetically.


MR. LISTER:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is also true that if you start with a 2 percent increase, it is much harder to get is it down, right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  If I could just build on that a little, I wouldn't necessarily agree starting with a higher number makes things easier.  We're determining the needs of the business and we have to prioritize and work within the resources we have available.  I wouldn't agree that it gets easier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you don't think there's more room in a big increase to cut it back than in a small increase?

MR. RYCKMAN:  No.  I would agree that if you're talking about percentages on a bigger number, it's a bigger dollar amount.  The reality is behind the work that's required, so the needs of the business and the needs of our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  A lot of these are judgment, though, right?  You are exercising judgment as to how much more you need?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We exercise judgment every day in managing the business, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, just on this same point, we're talking about bottom-up budgeting, right?  Grassroots budgeting, you called it in your budget letter?  Grassroots budgeting, right?

MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not, in fact, how final budgets are made at Enbridge Gas Distribution each year, from a corporate point of view, is it?


Because we know -- tell me whether this is true -- that Enbridge Inc. your parent company, once you have your rates set, tells you:  This is the ROE that you must achieve.  It is entirely top-down; isn't that right?

MR. RYCKMAN:  The way I would respond to that, Mr. Shepherd, is that Enbridge Inc. has expectations.  There's earning expectations and there is also an expectation that we will run the business properly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, but it is true, isn't it, that their expectation is a minimum of 50 basis points above your Board-approved ROE?  That's been true for at least 14 years; true?

MR. RYCKMAN:  They would expect us to be reaching and trying to do the best we can to drive out efficiencies in the business, just as other parties would, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So from the point of view of operationally, your budget is set based on a top-down expectation by your parent company; is that right?

MR. RYCKMAN:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.

The O&M budgets have been developed through a grassroots process.  They have been evaluated by the executive management team, and there was some direction provided from the EMT in regards to those budgets.


Again, it is up to the respective business units and the managers there to develop the budgets that will meet the needs of the business, will meet the needs of our customers, allow us to operate safely and reliably; all of those things go into that picture.


So to say that there is just this broad brush that overrides everything, no, I won't agree with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then let he ask this.


Once the rates are set, you're still expected to meet your above-ROE level, your ROE above Board-approved.  That EI requires that.


So if the rates are set lower than what you asked for, you don't get to spend the O&M budget, do you?  That has to be adjusted because you have to meet your ROE; isn't that right?

MR. RYCKMAN:  I would say that managing the needs of the business is the focal point.  There are earning expectations and we will try to manage the business to deliver on those expectations as we try to deliver on customer expectations, as well.


All of those things go hand in hand.  There are years where we have overspent our budgets because there have been the needs of the business that had to be met.  And that has happened.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is interesting you say that, because for 14 years you have over-earned compared to Board-approved, haven't you?  We just identified that?

MR. RYCKMAN:  I would take that, subject to check, and there would be a number of things that would go into why that occurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is pretty consistent, isn't it?

MR. RYCKMAN:  We do manage the business well, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move next to this sustainable efficiency incentive mechanism that you referred to.

Basically what this is -- tell me whether I have oversimplified it; I am trying to.  If you earn more than your Board-approved rate of return, then there is a formula to give you extra money after the IRM is over; is that right?

MR. LISTER:  Yes, that's correct.  We've developed a SEIM that is modelled like an efficiency carryover mechanism, as it's been applied in Alberta, which does just that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so given the fact that you have over-earned for the last 14 years, it's pretty clear you are going to get some money out of this, right?

MR. LISTER:  No.  The SEIM doesn't just do that.  It doesn't just create that calculation and then demand a reward.


As we have laid it out in the evidence -- and I can take you to the evidence -- we have intentionally made the SEIM so that it would be a very rigorous and thorough process by which a reward would be determined.


What you described would just be the starting point.


Beyond that, it would be on EGD to produce evidence to show that the ratepayer value is greater than the reward being sought, as well as a number of other conditions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is not actually correct, is it?  You have to produce evidence to show that you forecast a ratepayer value that exceeds the benefit you want, right?

MR. LISTER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And by the way, that forecast is for a ratepayer value on an after-tax basis, but you want your SEIM on a before-tax basis, so we actually have to pay you more than the benefit we get, right?

MR. LISTER:  No, I wouldn't characterize it that way or I wouldn't agree with that statement.

How we would evaluate the projects would be on an after-tax basis, so the reward that we would seek would be an after-tax reward.


So as we have positioned it or described it, it would be applied to the revenue requirement for the rebasing year and beyond, and in order to make it a revenue requirement number, we would need to gross it up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the amount that goes in rates is a grossed-up amount.  So, for example, if there is a benefit of $5 million to the ratepayers, then you want us to pay you 7.5; right?


MR. LISTER:  If we're -- yes.  Essentially, if we -- if the SEIM would generate an amount that would entitle us to a reward of $5 million, then we would want that reward to be paid on an after-tax basis, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And even though the benefit to the ratepayers is only 5 million?


MR. LISTER:  Well, on a before-tax basis, the benefit to the ratepayer would be grossed up for taxes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so schools would gross it up for taxes, or hospitals or residential consumers?


MR. LISTER:  I think another way to say this potentially, then, is if the outcome of the initiative saved $5 million, that would be $5 million that wouldn't go into revenue requirement, and when it went into requirement it would have been grossed up.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that be true?  If you saved money on expenses, you don't gross it up.


MR. LISTER:  On a revenue requirement basis, we would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How so?  You have your tax expert beside you.  Maybe he could help.


MR. CULBERT:  Thank you for that.  You turned my mic off.


We would certainly need to look at what the efficiencies are that have been generated, what they're relevant to, to determine whether or not it would go through rates on a gross basis, you're correct, versus a net basis.


There are certain things that, once we review what the SEIM has produced in terms of our interpretation of the efficiencies going forward, we would have to determine whether it would go through rates on a gross or net basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally speaking, if you saved the ratepayers $5 million in costs, in expenses, direct expenses, then we get a $5 million reduction in our rates, right, generally speaking?


MR. CULBERT:  If you are to look at a set of rates that are at a static point in time and you change just the costs relative to all other variables, yes, I would agree.  It's a one for one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you in fact calculated that for the last five years, had this been in place, you would have received an $8.2 million incentive; right?


MR. LISTER:  What we -- I can't remember -- you're referring to an undertaking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. LISTER:  -- from the technical conference.  I don't have the number in front of me.  I do recall that.


And I believe the response indicated that that would be the reward potential.  But, as I described, the SEIM, the S-E-I-M, goes beyond that, and our view of it right now is, based on what we provided in 2013, we would not have been entitled to that reward, because we didn't provide the justification that the ratepayer benefits exceeded that amount.


But you are right, that would have been the reward potential, as the question was asked.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course you didn't have a SEIM for your last time around, so you wouldn't have had any reason to justify the productivity initiatives; right?


MR. LISTER:  We didn't have a SEIM reward; that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you had had a SEIM reward, presumably you would have found some stuff to say, See what we did for you; right?


MR. LISTER:  No, I don't believe that is entirely accurate.


In fact, we did produce evidence in undertakings, I recall, that attempted to do just that, to collect and analyze the information on what productivities were generated over the course.


And my recollection is that in the settlement agreement, all parties agreed that productivity had been shown to have occurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would have got some of the $8.2 million.  You just don't know how much?


MR. LISTER:  The way that the SEIM would work would generate the reward for us, all or none.  So maybe we would have gotten the reward.  Sitting here today, I don't think that we would have qualified, because we didn't produce the evidence that would have justified an amount of greater ratepayer benefit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the thing I don't understand is it's -- the point here is that the efficiencies have to be sustainable.  And you are proposing to do a forecast of the future sustainability of it; right?  You are not actually proposing to wait and see what happens?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I guess what I don't understand is you make -- you don't differentiate in any way between an efficiency initiative that was in the first year of your plan versus one in the last year of your plan, and you don't differentiate between a rebasing in which you ask for more money and one in which you ask for less money.


I am not sure I understand how the ratepayers are benefitting if you are not considering those two aspects.


MR. RYCKMAN:  If I can just add to that, I think the general thrust behind the SEIM is to try to incent the utility to pursue efficiencies through the whole term, so whether it is the first day or the last day, to provide some sort of mechanism to incent that.


So there is a differentiation between the first and the fifth year, because these things will come up over that term.


In terms of rebasing, I don't think you can say that your rebasing is going to be less than it was prior to rebasing, that your rate base is going to be less, because there will be other things that come into play in that determination.


All things being equal, then, yes, it would be, but I don't think on rebasing you can categorically say that it is going to be less.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In your proposal, the impact of an initiative -- or, sorry, the impact of overearning in ROE in the first year and the last year is the same; right?  It is a simple average is what you're doing?


MR. LISTER:  That's right.  In the determination of the reward potential, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You are not proposing that you have to show that your rebasing includes a reduction for these savings, are you?


MR. LISTER:  We're proposing that the reward could only be accessed if it could be -- subject to intervenor and Board scrutiny, if it can be determined that the long-term sustainable efficiency generated or the benefit generated for ratepayers exceeded the reward that was being sought.


And if that test failed, then EGD would not qualify for the reward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The other thing I note from this is, and I think you have admitted this in the technical conference, that the effect of this SEIM is to give back some of your earnings sharing; right?


MR. LISTER:  I believe -- no, I think that is a little bit inaccurate.


In the update we filed, TCU1.14, we clarified that the amounts for the SEIM would be calculated -- the reward potential would be calculated using an after-sharing amount.  So that is my first comment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How does that change that?


MR. LISTER:  Well, the intent of the SEIM, again, is to incent the utility to generate long-term sustainable efficiencies.


So the ESM looks at the very short term.  It is generated during the course of the IR.  So that -- what happens during the IR may or may not be reflective of long-term sustainable benefits.  In fact, that is one of our criticisms of the Alberta efficiency carry-over mechanism is that it may be due to circumstances that are not long-term efficiency generators.


So the SEIM differentiates between those two, short term and long term.  It is value based only on the long term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In the last IRM plan that you had, 28 percent of your overearnings went to the ratepayers and 72 percent went to the shareholder; right?


MR. CULBERT:  I will assume those are the original calculations before the accounting error?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  No, no, I think that is after the accounting error.  I think that is the latest ones from the technical conference.


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check.  I would have to look at the numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But, anyway, my point is that if there is -- if you did qualify for a SEIM, the result would be that the 28 percent to the ratepayers would go down and the percentage to the shareholder would go up.  It doesn't work the other way.  It only works that way; right?


MR. LISTER:  I guess I am a little bit confused by the 28 percent would go down.  We wouldn't be seeking to re-collect amounts that were previously given.


Again, we would only be entitled to a SEIM reward if it could be shown that the long-term benefit was available to the ratepayer.


So it wouldn't be a claw-back of previous earnings sharing amounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, except that it is only if you overearned that you get a SEIM; right?


MR. LISTER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the way your mechanism works is, if you gave us $28 million of shared earnings out of 100 over your IRM period, and then you qualify for an $8 million SEIM, we have to give you back $8 million?  We net 20, you net 80; isn't that right?


MR. LISTER:  No, that is not right, because the ratepayer would benefit by an amount greater than the SEIM reward in long-term efficiencies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am going to skip performance reporting and monitoring for a second and just talk about the Z factor.


There's two things that you are proposing in the Z factor.


You are proposing to keep the threshold at $1.5 million, right?


MR. FISCHER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are proposing to change the definition of the Z factor so that the causal connection between the thing that initiates it and your qualification for it is less direct; is that fair?


MR. FISCHER:  I am not sure if it is less direct, but we are changing it so that the -- it is a cause that determines whether a Z factor collection should be applied for, rather than focussing on an event.  That is the major change, I think, from the original Z factor language.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the example you give is that you think you would have qualified for a pension Z factor under the new definition, but not under the old definition; is that right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the reason is because the -- your increase in pension costs was associated with a cause out there in the marketplace, but it wasn't a particular event -- at least as the Board determined it -- it wasn't a particular event that caused you to have that additional cost.  So you didn't have an event to make the connection; is that right?


MR. FISCHER:  So the way we would have interpreted a Z factor application for pension -- for the pension issue would be that the cause would be a change in legislation and the event would have been the change in interest rates.


And that is how we would have interpreted it under this -- under this new revised language.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As opposed to the other way around; the event being a change in legislation and the cause of the increased costs being a change in discount rates?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  And I will just also add, also, the additional criteria that it not be reasonably within management control would have been met as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that is the other thing you are proposing to change.  You are saying that the current test means -- essentially everything is, to a certain extent, within management's control, right?  It may only be small, but pretty well everything has some management control, right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RYCKMAN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think that's some of the concern with the language, is how broad do you go with that statement.


So there could be some, let's say, even with severe weather conditions, there is more that management could have done to plan for those.


You are trying to operate the business in a responsible way, but there are things that are outside of management control.  And there are occasions where there is no bright line, in terms of an event.


So there can be a gaining of knowledge over time and then an understanding that something has to be done to address the knowledge that you gained.


So you do have this difficulty with a bright line that resides in the current Z factor or the Z factor language of the previous term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that -- the example of that is cross-bores, right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Cross-bores could be an example of that.


Again, you touched on pension.  You know, there was an event.  Management did a lot to control the costs associated with that pension.


So again, you know, where you draw that line, what we tried to do is make the Z factors a feature of an IR plan, because the way they're crafted right now, one could argue -- or the way they were crafted, one could argue that the creation of an asset plan basically throws everything offside, because now you know about all your assets.


So what you are trying to do is enable the business to respond to issues as they arise in a responsible way.  And we can fully appreciate that Z factors are extraordinary in the context of an IR plan, but if you have language that is not usable at all, you effectively have no Z factor at all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Other utilities have used that language and got Z factors, right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  To a limited extent, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What you are proposing would in effect say:  If you increase your budget on anything by more than a million and a half dollars, you are allowed to come back for more money; isn't that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No.  That is not true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then how is it different?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, when you look at the causal relationship, again it's unknown events.


So for instance in -- I think it is A1.SEC.11, where we set out the variable costs, we're accepting the risks associated with the variable costs in that response.  If there were things that over and above that -- so for instance, if there was an issue with amp fittings and where we're currently looking to replace those over a certain period of time, if all of a sudden we have to replace 400,000 of those within a very short period of time, our view would be that that is something that would qualify for a Z factor-type application.


Whether the Board would approve it or not, they would have to opine on that, but that would be our view.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And indeed, part of the intention of the change you are proposing is to make it possible for the Board to agree with you on that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think our change is -- the focus of our changes is to provide clarity and to make Z factors a feature of an IR plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds to me -- and I'm not attempting to put words in your mouth.  I am really just trying to nail this down.  It sounds to me like you want to be able to include ordinary course-of-business things that are a change in trajectory, if you like, in an application for additional money.


So I will give you an example.  You may remember cast iron mains.  Years ago, the company came in and said:  We need a bunch more money in our capital budget because we have to replace all these cast iron mains.  And the Board said no, and the company replaced them anyway and over-earned in every year.


And I am not sure I understand why -- what you are describing would say:  If the company wants to do that, it can ask for more money.  And it sounds to me like that is not necessary.


Can you help me with this?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, we're certainly prepared to take on risk through this plan.  So Mr. Fischer talked about that risk.  Mr. Culbert talked about that risk in the context of living to the forecasts that were put forward.


We have the variable costs that were outlined, again, in, I believe it was, SEC 11.  You know, they amount to some $164 million, if I recall correctly, from 2014 through 2016.


We are prepared to live with that risk, but if I even use -- as an example, if there was a defect in pipeline material, so all of a sudden we found out that there was a manufacturing defect and we had to address it, you know, following the lines that you just did in terms of, well, you know management purchased the pipe, we installed the pipe.  So drawing that bright line of management's connected to this pipe, we're connected to the whole system.  There is 36,000 kilometres of main out there.


So that would be a clear example of something where we believe that we should be able to come before the Board for Z factor treatment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah-hah.  So I guess I have always understood that part of the job of management is to deal with all of those things, that things happen on a day-to-day basis in running the utility that you didn't expect.  And that is why managers get paid the big bucks, and they're expected to handle those, to adjust, reset their priorities and stay within budget; isn't that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We do -- we manage the business every day.  That is what we do, absolutely.


But if you look at amp fittings, for instance, you know, carry a cost of some $3,000 apiece to address.  If you had to suddenly install 400,000 of them, you know, that is a huge issue to deal with.  And we believe that is something that we should be able to come to the Board and ask for relief on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if, for example, there was a change in legislation and you were given six months or a year to replace all of those, then you would say:  Well, this is $10 million.  We don't have this money.  Board, please let us have some more money.  It is not our fault.  Right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  If there are things that are driving costs that are outside of management control, and if there are unknown -- so the pipe defect would be an issue that -- or an example of something that that are brought forward, we should have the ability to secure the resources that we need to address those issues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask one final question on this, to see if I understand.


If you do a new asset management plan in two years, during your IRM, and in the course of the asset -- sorry, asset condition assessment.  In the course of that, the consultant you bring in to do it says, You know, the new best practice for blue widgets is they have to be replaced after five years, not ten. You've got a whole lot of blue widgets out there, and you should be replacing those.  That is the new best practice.


Would you believe that you could then come back to the Board and say, We have to spend $10 million on blue widgets, please give us some more money?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We have a plan.  We have an asset plan that is in the evidence.  We have a forecast of capital spending, and we're prepared to go away and manage to that.


To the extent there are costs over and above that we identified in the case, SEC 11 as an example of that, those variable costs as we're calling them, there may be instances where we would come before the Board.


I can't say categorically that we would come before the Board.  It depends on the circumstances at the time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to do here is understand the nuance between the old definition and the new.


In the old definition, a consultant saying, This is the new best practice, wouldn't be a sufficient cause to get you Z factor treatment.


Under the new definition, my understanding is that your proposal is that that would be sufficient cause and you would be allowed to apply; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  One moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RYCKMAN:  So the way I would characterize it, Mr. Shepherd, is that a best practice unto itself would not qualify it as a Z factor, per se.


So we would have to look at the circumstances at that time and make a determination.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would agree that in that example, under the current definition you don't get to apply, and under the proposed definition you would have to look at the specifics of the case?


MR. RYCKMAN:  You mean the first generation definition?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. RYCKMAN:  I would say that it wouldn't qualify under the wording of the first generation.  And, you know, once again, with our understanding of the wording and our experience with the wording, there isn't really anything that would qualify that I can think of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I guess my -- I am just trying to -- this is a hard one to understand; right?


So first generation, my example would not have qualified.  Under your current proposal, it might qualify.  Is that true?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Intuitively, my response would be I would be surprised if it qualified, but I wouldn't categorically state it wouldn't qualify.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Let me move on to page 3 of your presentation.  I am not going to spend a half an hour on each page, I promise you, but the first page was full of lots of stuff.


So your comment "Why this approach?" starts with your capital requirements, and I take it that we're all on the same page that the primary driver here of this unusual application is you need -- you are feeling you need to spend a bunch of money on capital projects, more than in the past; is that right?


You said it in the technical conference numerous times.


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  Clearly capital requirements is a major driver.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You refer here to the fair return standard.  I am going to come back to this in a minute.  But you do agree that the fair return standard can be met either from a top-down budget or a bottom-up budget; right?


You said that, as well, in the technical conference, I think.


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  I want to go to the next page now.  This talks about the OEB's objectives.


We have already talked about how you embed productivity.  We will, I am sure, get back to that in the subsequent panels.


You say you will be challenged to meet the cost forecasts.  Why is that?


MR. LISTER:  I think what we are referring to there, Mr. Shepherd, is among all of the list of productivity efforts that have been assigned and committed to throughout the body of evidence, there are some that we know are clearly not realistic.


An example would be holding salaries and wages to the growth rate of inflation.  We are already have high expectations that the growth rate for benefits costs, for example, will be well in excess of inflation, that outside contractor costs will be well in excess of inflation.


There are other measures that we have taken to constrain the budget, for example, holding the number of full-time employees, or FTEs, constant for budget-setting purposes.  We know that that will be a tremendous difficulty over the duration of the term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So these OM&A budgets, for example, that you are forecasting over the next five years, they're not realistic budgets?


MR. LISTER:  I'm saying a number of measures have been taken, as documented throughout the body of evidence, in this case O&M evidence, that enumerate how EGD approached a way to constrain the budget.


And it necessarily required assumptions that will be very difficult to bear out in actual practice over the course of the term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you just said keeping wage costs to inflation was unrealistic.  So all your compensation information in your application, then, is not realistic; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, I don't believe that is the -- that's the conclusion that can be drawn.


What we have done is we have struck budgets that we know will be challenging to meet, but we are committed to meet.


So an example of that is in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 10, it sets out a number of challenges that we will be facing from an O&M perspective.


We have talked about some of the capital challenges it will have in terms of the variable costs and the variability there, but we are committed to strive to meet those.  We are holding bad debt constant at current levels for the whole duration.


We know that revenues will increase over that period of time, yet bad debt is a function of total revenues.  Also, we will be growing the customer base over that time, as well.  So that would be another example of where we have got embedded productivity.  Will there be challenges with that?  Yes, we believe there will be, but, again, we are committed to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  None of these individual targets in your budget you are actually accountable for; right?  You are not accountable for any of them.  You're only accountable for the total?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I'm sorry, I don't follow what you're saying.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If it turns out that you spend more on remuneration than your current budgets show, nobody -- when you come back for rebasing, the Board isn't going to say, Wait a second, you told us you were going to spend less than that; you were going to keep it to inflation.


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, the expectation is that the department managers have budgets that they need to manage towards and they will manage towards those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only thing you are accountable for is the total; right?


You are accountable to stay within your rates.  That is all you are accountable for.  Under the system of regulation here where it is a forward test year approach, once you get the budget, you can change it entirely any way you want; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes, I would agree that there is flexibility that we have in order to meet the needs of the business as it evolves over time, and we exercise that discretion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board should not assume - I think this is correct - that the budgets that you have presented are what will actually happen.  There will be material changes to those along the way; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The budgets that we presented are best estimates of what the future costs will be, and we're committed to manage towards those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't answer my question.


MR. LISTER:  I think we recognized from the outset, Mr. Shepherd, that we know that there will be differences.


This is the risk that we bear in setting a five-year term in advance, and that is a risk that we need to or we will accept over the course of the term.


And you are quite right things may change over the course of time that necessitate more or less spending in different areas, and I think we have been very forthright and very -- we have put that at the very front of our application.  So, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but what I am driving at is something a little bit different.  See, I am circling back to the fair return standard.


Here is the thing that bothers me.  You have -- in your OM&A, let's say you have $10 million over the next five years for legal services.  That's your current forecast.  If you end up spending $1 million - sorry, Fred - that doesn't matter; right?  You can take 9 million of that and redirect it to something else, and that is fine; right?


MR. LISTER:  That is correct.  That is not unlike an I-X or a formulaically driven incentive program.  That would be the case in any incentive plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the -- it isn't –- it wouldn't be reasonable for the Board to conclude -- tell me whether this is right -- that if they don't let you have $10 million in your budget for legal services, you won't be able to meet the fair-return standard, because in fact you don't know whether you are going to spend that much.


You are only putting the budget together to get a total, right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RYCKMAN:  I would say there is two components to that.


So we talked about the flexibility and the discretion that we exercise.  There is also an understanding within the company if I am budgeting $10 million for legal fees and I don't spend those fees, I don't view that as just an easy:  Too bad, that is just the way it worked out.  I am reserving resources that the business could use for other important things.  So I think that is one aspect of it.


From the perspective of if there's amounts that we do not get approved through this case, we will be managing the business differently, if that were to occur.


So if we don't have all of the resources that we feel we need, we will be looking to manage the business differently.  How that will actually manifest itself, I can't tell you at this point in time.  But one thing is for certain, is we would manage the business differently.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, if you don't spend the whole budget that is in your plan this year, for each of the various years, one thing you might be doing is saying:  Well, okay, that budget is going to go to something else.  You do that often, right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or the other thing is you can say:  Well, that's good.  The shareholder gets that.  Right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That could be a choice.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, the last plan you had, which -- a real IRM plan, that plan, based on a top-down approach, that plan -- what was it -- $200 million that the shareholder got by doing that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I can't confirm the amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  A big amount?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Maybe Mr. Culbert can.  But at any rate, I think the fact that you didn't spend a budget isn't necessarily something that is always contrived or you're just doing it to prop up earnings.


So for instance, as you pursue productivity, you may re-engineer your processes, you may be able to deal with less FTEs.  The reality is you have less requirements in terms of the budget needs and those will go to earnings, and those earnings we shared over the first generation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and in fact what you expect -- tell me whether this is true -- what you expect is that you will not spend the full budget that you are asking the Board to approve in this proceeding.


MR. LISTER:  No, I think that is inaccurate.


I think questions have been put to our capital and O&M witnesses, and specifically on the capital side it's been indicated that there's no bucket of quote-unquote discretionary projects, and they would invite you to follow that up with them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will.


MR. LISTER:  Absolutely.


Other issues at play here are we've committed to annual reporting, both through the ESM and through productivity initiatives reporting, performance benchmarking at the end of the term.


Our goal is to increase transparency.  We want to be held to account.  We have said:  This is what we need to do, and we will do it and we will lay all to bare for everyone to see each and every year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are actually proposing periodic reporting but no accountability, right?


MR. LISTER:  Well, I think the accountability is there, in that we will arrive at a rebasing application in 2019 and we will be held to account on how well or poorly we operated the business and our forecasts played out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You forecast that you need about, call it, $6 billion over the next five years to meet your -- the fair-return standard, based on a bottom-up approach to budgeting.


You actually expect to earn more than your allowed ROE in every single year, don't you?  In fact, you will be required to by EI, won't you?


MR. CULBERT:  We will definitely be challenged by EI to try to find a way to increase earnings versus what our projections state.


However, that is no different than any other year.  We're always challenged to try to find ways to drive out improvements in earnings.  It's not any different this time around.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it appears to me that it is reasonable, then, to conclude that you are not likely to spend the whole $6 billion operating the business, because if you spend the whole $6 billion, then you won't be able to over-earn?


MR. CULBERT:  I wouldn't say that we wouldn't spend the whole $6 billion.  There will be choices in terms of how we spend the money, just like during the first IR term.  The Board, when it was approving our 1st Gen IR revenue stream, wasn't approving a specific set of costs which the entity was required to spend.  It was the company's choice to spend its monies in terms of operating costs or things it would spend on capital, and it needed to do so with respect to, yeah, expectations of earnings and return on equity that would be achieved as a result of doing so, but there was no tie necessarily to the amount of revenues that were being granted as a rate increase versus the choices of spend; there was no tie whatsoever.


We're saying we are projecting what we believe we need to spend now, and we've challenged ourselves to try and put in productivities that will challenge ourselves.


And our actuals, they might come in higher, Mr. Shepherd.  I mean, the expectation challenged by EI to us is that we try to drive out a greater earnings level.  There is no guarantee we are going to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I'm trying to get at here, Mr. Culbert -- and you may have said it already -- is in other IRMs, a formula is used to set revenues, or rates.  Indirectly, revenues.


In this case, you are proposing that costs, a forecast of costs will set revenues and rates, but if I understand correctly, you don't actually expect to spend those costs on those things in those years.  That's not what you actually expect.  You think you might have to spend that much money, but in terms of the individual cost items, you're not providing evidence today, nor in this hearing, that you need to spend that money, are you?


MR. FISCHER:  Mr. Shepherd, if I could just respond, so I think the important point that needs to be made here is that there is no difference between the first generation IR and our customized IR plan, in terms of the development of -- well, the fact that they -- the common element is they have a revenue cap.  In the first generation IR, we had a revenue cap per customer, but common to both is the fact that there is a revenue cap.  And the formulaic I-X approach embeds productivity through an X-factor.


Our proposal, our customized IR proposal embeds productivity directly in our cost budgets.


So both our -- both the first generation IR and our proposed customized IR plan are both incentive regulation models.  That's the important point that I think needs to be made.


And the bargain that a utility makes when it participates in an IR is that it has that opportunity to earn more than the allowed ROE by taking on that additional risk that it is taking on, in terms of basically living with those costs.  And they're not just budgeted costs that are a bottom-up determination.  These are costs that have embedded productivity, and the bulk -– well, a large portion of our evidence is focussed on demonstrating that.


MR. RYCKMAN:  The other thing I would add is that I don't see that -- that EI's expectations around us and desire to see us do better are inconsistent with incentive regulation.


I mean, incentive regulation is to try to drive out productivity and to have greater value through that process.  So I don't see them as being inconsistent at all.


I don't, also, see it as a structure where we're committing to under-spend.  We need to manage the business.  The business has needs.  There's expectations and there should be incentive and incentive regulation, and we're committed to pursue that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the difference between the last plan and this plan, the fundamental difference -- I mean, there is lots of details, but the fundamental difference is the last plan there was a top-down calculation through formula of how much you would be able to collect each year.


And in this plan, what you are proposing is a bottom-up calculation to get to a number, but in either case, what you are getting to is a number.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, I think what is interesting, you know, as I have thought about this, Mr. Shepherd, is in I-X, your inflation is trying to address the cost changes that you would be subjected to over the term of the IR period, and then the X is the productivity.


So through I-X in the first generation plan, we had GDP IPI FTD as a proxy for where costs would be going, and then you had a productivity measure in there.


What we're saying is that the traditional inflationary index doesn't provide what it needs to provide for us to meet the needs of our business and our customers.  So we have structured the cost in that setting, the inflationary path, on a go-forward basis, not the traditional GDPI based on the needs of the business and the customers.


The X part of it is already embedded within the numbers, and the capital panels and the O&M panels and the revenue panels will be able to speak to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In both cases, whether your revenues are set based on a cost build-up or based on a formula, you hope to be able to spend less than that so that you can earn more money; right?  In fact, that is part of the concept?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I would say our hope is that we will over-earn.  Our desire is to strive to do that.  That can come through driving efficiencies out in the cost structure.  It could be from driving out additional revenues in any way, shape or form.


The other component that I would say is there may be opportunities to drive out enhancements in the customer experience, and those are important, as well.


So I don't see it as being one dimensional.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am trying -- I am not sure you answered the question.


Is it true that no matter how your rates are set, you do wish to try to spend less than the budget?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We are committed to the incentive and incentive regulation.


MR. LISTER:  Correct.  But there are other priorities, as well.  For example, safety and integrity is a very large concern for the company, and, again, the capital panel will be able to speak to that.  But based on the number of incidents and other legislation, those are driving requirements for spending.


So I don't think it is as simple as to just say, whatever your revenues are, you are going to spend less.


In fact, job number 1 is to manage the business safely, efficiently and reliably.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is interesting you say that, Mr. Lister, because if this Board Panel, for example, were to say, Look, we're not going to give you extra money for this expansion of your integrity budget.  We're not going to give it to you, does that mean you wouldn't spend that money?  Or does that mean you would under-earn?  Because your history shows that is not what happens.  What happens, instead, is EI says, You still have to keep safe and, by the way, we still want you to be 50 basis points above ROE.  Isn't that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think at the end of the day, we would have to go back and assess how we would manage the business under whatever circumstances we find ourselves in, and we will do the best to meet our commitments under those circumstances.


It could mean that we would overspend.  It absolutely could mean that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When was the last time you under-earned, Mr. Ryckman?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, as I mentioned -- so you provided some numbers and I didn't disagree with those, subject to check.


We have overearned, but it is not always driven by under-spending in one category.  It is not always driven by under-spending.


There are a number of things that went into it.  So when we look at the first generation incentive regulation, for instance, we know that we had significant benefits through finance rates and through tax rates.  Those were main contributors over the previous IR term, and there was also productivity that was generated through the IR term, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, let me move on.  I had just one more question on this page 4 of your materials.


You say here, Mr. Fischer, that your proposal protects the interests of consumers with respect to price.  How is that?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LISTER:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  I believe the reference there is that it is our belief that -- and this is documented in Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1, I believe, where we lay out the rate adjustment path.  And it is our view that that is a very reasonable rate adjustment path.


Further to that, bill impacts are expected to be even lower through this site restoration cost change.


So with respect to price, it is our view that consumers are well served.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are actually asking for 4.13 percent per year for five years, aren't you?


MR. LISTER:  That is not my read of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Rather than have you go into it now, when we get to the spreadsheet, we will get to that number.


MR. LISTER:  I wasn't referring to a spreadsheet, Mr. Shepherd.  I was referring to our opening overview evidence, which lays out an annual average rate growth of 2.2 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought it was 1.4 percent.


MR. LISTER:  1.4 percent is the bill impact, yes.  If I could direct your attention to page 7 of Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. LISTER:  There we have a chart that shows the annual average rate impact of 2.2 percent and the average annual bill impact of 1.4 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The only reason for that is because you are giving the ratepayers back a half a billion dollars that you over-collected from them, right, because without that, it is 4.13 percent, isn't that right, or will you accept that subject to check?


MR. LISTER:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


I want to go to page 6 of your presentation.  We talked a bit about productivity.  I am not going to go through it in any detail.


I do want to ask you, the third party that you are talking about, that is Concentric; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are going to end up paying them, what, about $3 million to do this stuff?  It was 1.9 million at the time of the technical conference, and now you have a hearing.  So I am assuming 3 million, roughly.  Am I in the ballpark?


MR. LISTER:  No, I think you are well over the ballpark.  It is estimated at just over $2 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are only paying them 100,000 to participate in the hearing?


MR. LISTER:  About $2.1 or $2.2 million is the total estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  All right.


And didn't Concentric respond to an RFP that required them to agree in advance, without knowing what your plan was, to support your plan?


MR. LISTER:  No.  My recollection was that the RFP asked for independent and objective evidence, and that's what we sought and that is what we believe has been delivered.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, we will come back to that.


My next question on this is on page 8.  I have two questions on this.  Mr. Fischer, you talked about your proposal creating asymmetrical risks.  I was hoping you would expand on that a little bit.


MR. FISCHER:  The earnings sharing mechanism is asymmetric, and so to the extent that allowed -- our actual ROE is greater than allowed ROE, there is the potential for the company to share in that benefit, the first 100 basis points, and beyond that 50-50 with ratepayers.


However, the opposite is not true.  So to the extent that costs, for example, are in excess of what would have been embedded in the allowed revenue determination, then the company would be at risk for that entirely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you under-earn, we don't have to pay?


MR. FISCHER:  If we under-earn, the impact of that under-earning is fully at the expense of the shareholder.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, except none of you get bonuses; right?


All right.  But I guess here's the thing I was going to drive at with this is you talked about this being about your performance, and your ability to earn more than the allowed rate of return is about performance.


But it is also true, isn't it, that you also do well if you over-forecast?  This is a plan that builds in an incentive on your part to over-forecast; right?  It is in your interests?


MR. FISCHER:  No.  I think -- I think we have already talked a little bit about that.


So our forecasts already have embedded productivity in them, and we described the fact that we will be challenged to meet those costs.

So to the extent that we do better than that, through the incentives that are built into the -- into our proposal, then we and ratepayers would benefit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Fischer, the electric utilities are living with about 1 and a half percent per year.  Union Gas is living with 1.6 percent per year.  And you want 4 percent per year.  I am not sure I understand how that isn't over-forecasting.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Mr. Shepherd, I would encourage you to test the panels, as I know you will, in terms of capital, O&M, and revenue, and they will be able to demonstrate, clearly demonstrate how the forecasts have been derived and why they're reasonable forecasts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like to turn to K1.3, which is the spreadsheet that we forwarded last week to Enbridge and with the assistance of Mr. Culbert got to a set of agreed numbers.


You agree, Mr. Culbert, that the numbers on this spreadsheet -- subject to the assumptions built into them -- are reasonable numbers?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Subject to the assumptions that are included in the calculations, the numbers are correct in terms of how this model would produce revenues, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will agree that this -- this sheet has -- lines 1 to 25 basically apply the Union Gas IRM plan to Enbridge, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And lines 26 to 29 calculate the impact of the Enbridge application as filed, with the same assumptions and adjustments?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Each of the results -- for the Board's understanding -- each of the results in the top half of this schedule and the bottom half exclude our proposal for the cost and dollar depreciation methodology, and exclude changes to pension costs from a forecast perspective going forward.


So sort of on a comparable basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to take you through this a little bit at a time, to make sure we understand what we're disagreeing about.


And I will start, I guess, with -- line 1 is just -- that is your requirement from 2013, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's the distribution revenue requirement net of gas costs, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And then built into line 2 is a factor for the increased revenue you will get from customer growth, assuming 1.7 percent, which is what you have assumed in your numbers as well, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  It is an assumption of the average customer growth throughout the five-year term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your customer growth in the past has actually been higher than that, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check.  I am not certain.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But --


MR. CULBERT:  This is our projection.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 1.7 percent is also what you have in your application?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's what's resident in the application in terms of customer growth.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 1.7 percent, you'll see that set of numbers don't appear to be 1.7 percent of the 1,021, and the reason for that is because you can only apply that to the things that are not Y factors, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We have also excluded in this the pensions, even though they're not a Y factor, it is expected that there will be a flow-through in some way, and so the pensions are also non-escalated, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  If you add up line 9, row 9 on this schedule, plus $43 million of pension costs resident in the base, there is about $204 million that does not get customer growth --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?


MR. CULBERT:  -- included in it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the result is that if you do nothing else, your rates will increase.  You will get an additional -- not your rates, sorry.  Your revenues will increase by $213 million, on current expectations, over the next five years, just because of customer growth, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  That is what is built into our forecast of revenue at existing rates, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a little bit of an anomaly there, because in fact it may be that customer growth will not be dollar-for-dollar.  That is, you might have customer growth of 1.7 percent, but it doesn't convert to 1.7 percent of additional revenues, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Especially if conservation increases, et cetera, or gas costs go up, that sort of thing, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's true.  So built into our application is what we mentioned; we were looking to come back every year to adjust our volumetric projections to accommodate changes of that nature.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The effect of that is that -- and under the Union plan there is a similar adjustment, right?


MR. CULBERT:  From my understanding, there's a -- I am not sure what it's called, but a similar adjustment, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is a reasonable assumption, then, in line 2 to include the full impact, because one way or another you are going to get that adjusted, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  If you adjust your unit rates to accommodate changes in volumes, you would end up recovering -- supposedly -- from a forecast perspective, the amount of revenues that would be underpinned by the unit rate change.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, under an I-X like the Union one, you then have to back out your Y factors that are embedded in rates, and then with what's left, you then have to escalate it, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Very similar to our revenue per customer cap in 1st Gen IR.  Almost identical, actually.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in lines 6 through 9, you back out the Y factors and get to the amount to be escalated -- 874, for example, in line 10 -- and you escalate that.


Now, we have used 2 percent inflation and the Union formula, which is 40 percent of inflation, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  So that is one of the variances between this analysis versus all of the analyses that would have been replied to in terms of interrogatories, et cetera, of our interpretation of how the Union model works, yes.  So there is a variance there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then after you do the escalator, you then have to add back the current values of the Y factors, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so for example, customer care goes up in 2014 from 110 million to 114 million?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct, as approved in a separate settlement agreement, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, we've got in here the GTA and Ottawa projects?  There is an amount for that as well, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you get to the total revenue at escalated rates?  In this case, a million and 52 for 2014, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then if you look at line 20, you will see this is how much additional revenues you have under the Union model, and based on these assumptions, of course.  You have an additional 31 million in 2014, rising up to an additional 201 million in 2018, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, and these are relative to the base DRR shown on line 1.


So yes.  Cumulatively over five years, that is the amount of revenue increases you would have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the total -- on the Union model, you get an additional $613 million to operate your business, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But not all of that is -- by the way, will you accept, subject to check, that that increase of 19.64 percent in your revenues is an average increase of 3.61 percent in revenues?  I am just asking you to accept it subject to check.


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check, I will.  That's relative to the base again, as you're referring?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  3.61 percent per year.


Then not all of that has to come from rate increases.  Some of it comes from growth, right?


So line 23, then, backs out the portion of the increase that is from growth and gets the increase in revenues that comes from rates, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.  When you say line 17 backs out --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Line 23.


MR. CULBERT:  Sorry, line 23.  Line 23 is what we're seeing as an increase in revenues from rates from, call it, an escalation factor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So of the 613 million that you get extra under the Union plan, 400 million comes from rate increases, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Comes from --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the other 213 million comes from the customer?


MR. CULBERT:  It comes from revenues generated through rates, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is rate increases, though, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, but it is not a rate percentage increase.  It is the amount of revenue that you get inside of rates.


So percentages you see on there are not -- the percentages you see on line 25 are not an actual rate increase per se, rate percentage.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, really?


MR. CULBERT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?


MR. CULBERT:  Those are revenues that are increasing in rates.  Those are not rate percentage increases.


Mr. Kacicnik would calculate what the rate percentage increases are, similar to what you saw in page 7 of our overview evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand that.


MR. CULBERT:  Those are the percentage cumulative average revenues inside of rate increases.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your revenues increase in the first year $17 million --


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- because of rate increases?


MR. CULBERT:  Inside of rates, there is a $17 million increase of revenues, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you just calculate what 17 is of 1,021, you're going to get what the average rate increase for your customers is, right?  It is the only way you can get it?


MR. CULBERT:  Like I said, these are the percentages of revenue changes in rates.  So I would ask you to ask Mr. Kacicnik to explain to you what the percentage rate increases really are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Sorry, I thought we had agreed on this, so -- all right.


The average increase per year is 2.32 percent, right?  Under the Union plan you get 2.32 percent more in revenues each year from rates?


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to the calculation, sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, then if you look at the Enbridge as filed, you start with -- line 26 is what you actually asked for, and then you adjust for SRC and pensions to get a number of $6 billion, which is -- in fact, there is an interrogatory response in which you gave us this number, which is -- I can't remember the number.


MR. CULBERT:  It's SEC 64, I believe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's right.


And in this case, what you have asked for is an increase in revenues of 30 percent over five years, 30.29 percent, $947 million; right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's the average increase if we did not go forward with the proposal for the site restoration cost or pension changes versus the base, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Leave pensions aside, because that is a flow-through; right?  You don't know what that is going to be.


MR. CULBERT:  If the Board reaches a conclusion that the variance account proposal around pensions is a pass-through, then, sure, you can leave it aside.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is all modelled based on it being a pass-through; right?


MR. CULBERT:  This is modelled as if the pension amounts stay in the base, and there would be a variance account attached of $42 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the SRC, the amounts that you are giving back to the ratepayers for SRC, that's not a reduction in costs; right?  You have been charging too much and you are giving it back.


MR. CULBERT:  Well, there are two elements to the SRC proposal that I am on another panel and will speak to with our expert, our depreciation consultant.


So I am not sure how much to get into that on this panel, but there is an amount relative to the SRC proposal that is a cash return of monies which does not affect the requirement numbers you are seeing here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


MR. CULBERT:  There is a corollary impact of that cash in terms of tax deductibility and its impact on accumulated depreciation resident currently within the rate base determinations of the company.


So there is another $240 million impact that is happening inside of the requirements that, Mr. Shepherd, you are speaking to up in line 26 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  -- in terms of the $5.7 billion that the company's proposal contains within it.


So to your point, if you do not go forward with that proposal, our actual calculation of required revenues over the five-year term would be $6.1 billion, six-zero-five-two.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the increase in rates that you are asking for or revenue from rates is 734 million as opposed to the 400 million that would be under the Union plan; right?


The difference of 333 million, that is what we're really arguing about here.  You say you need $333 million more money by raising rates than you would have gotten under a plan like Union's; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  If you normalize out the SRC proposal, the variance between what we are asking for, regardless of whether the SRC is in or out, is approximately 300-plus million dollars, yes.  And that is -- if I might provide some context, the drivers underpinning that $300 million were shown in response to an interrogatory B17, EGDI -- I won't name you that -- CME.14.  So all of the drivers of the required increases in rates are shown in that table for the benefit of the Board and other parties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's been updated; right?  Has that been updated?


MR. CULBERT:  It has been updated versus the previous version, and if you see a note 1 at the bottom of that page, it explains why.


In doing a drivers -- when the company puts together its entire revenue requirement for a five-year period, it is an all-encompassing calculation, as we all know.  When you look backwards to see what the drivers of individual elements are -- for example, we would have looked at CIS customer care.  We know what the drivers of that are in line 1 in the updated evidence.


Similarly, we know what the projection -- projected GTA requirement implications are.  So an error that was put through on our part in the original development of drivers is we looked at the constant dollar depreciation methodology in its entirety in Energy Probe 11.  We quantified what the entire change was, and we put that in as a driver.


Then when we analyzed the GTA project and Ottawa reinforcement projects, resident in those, the derivation of those results, included the decrease in depreciation rate changes that we were proposing from an overall perspective.


So the analysis sort of double counted some of the amounts that were, in effect, happening as a result of the entire SRC proposal, but they were resident in the GTA and Ottawa calculations.  So we simply had to say, Well, we have already accounted for some of the depreciation rate change.


If you look at line 5 in this document, previously that number was $241 million.  What it failed to take into consideration was that there were some impacts inside of the GTA and Ottawa lines, the requirements there.  So it sort of double counted the impacts of SRC, because some of it happens inside of the GTA and Ottawa reinforcement projection -- revenue requirement projections.


Those were run at the new lower depreciation rates for mains, et cetera, that -- again, that Fleming is proposing a change in.  So it doesn't change the overall deficiency, as you see at the bottom of the page.  The overall deficiency over the five-year term is still $499 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That $499 million, though, includes GTA and Ottawa?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Customer care?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  DSM; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it doesn't actually match up to the $333 million difference that we're talking about, does it?  It doesn't tell us what that $333 million is made of?


MR. CULBERT:  No, it doesn't.  But what you have done here is changed some of the parameters in terms of the difference that would occur between removing SRC and pension, because you're using -- in this analysis, Mr. Shepherd, as you quantified at the outset, you are using a different inflation factor than we would have used in terms of interrogatories, et cetera.


So I could point you to -- I'm sorry, I'm trying to find it here -- SEC 64.  I think it is that one there.


Sorry, give me a second.  Sorry, here, I have it.  So if you look at SEC 64, what it produced as a total gross deficiency as is resident on your page is six-zero-five-two.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. CULBERT:  That is versus the five-seven-five-two that you rightly point out is what is in our application, for a difference of $299 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. CULBERT:  What you have done in the analysis, that I agree with, is you have kept pension at a constant level.


So the difference between your 299 and -- excuse me, the 299 that happens inside of SEC 64 and your 333 is the difference in pension, a $57 million decline, but you have also included a 2 percent inflation rate versus --


MR. SHEPHERD:  $15 million.


MR. CULBERT:  Right.  So that quantifies the variance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the bottom line here is that you are proposing that the revenue from rates go up by about 22.4 percent on this scenario, which is 4.13 percent per year.  That is line 37.  Would you accept that subject to check?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Again, those are revenues inside of rates, not rate percentages themselves.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just ask a couple of things about this $333 million.


That $333 million doesn't have anything to do with GTA or Ottawa, right, because that is built in here as a Y factor.


It doesn't have anything to do with customer care or any of that stuff.  But some of the things that are causing that or one is that you are proposing to adjust your cost of capital each year; right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have seen a number of different numbers on that, and so I don't know which is the right one.  I am going to ask you.


But the one that appears to be the correct one is a $130 million impact.


MR. CULBERT:  The $130 million impact is the impact of the company forecasting purely the change in ROE --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  -- versus the ROE resident in 2013 base rates of eight-ninety-three.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So ROE is 130 million?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  And where you can't see it explicitly but where you do see that is now -- if I take you to CME 14, B17.CME.14?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  Where you see the -- where the $130 million is resident, in line 6 -- if you look at line 6 in that schedule --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  It is showing that as a result of our forecast ROE versus the 8.93 percent return resident base rates, that the deficiency has $98 million included in it from forecast ROE differences.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. CULBERT:  But as well, in line 7, on other rate base growth -- so the way the analysis was done is fine.


If you look at your base rate base in line 6, what's the difference in ROE that drives the deficiency change going forward?  That is the $98 million.


Line 7, it looks at rate base growth, but included in there also is a projected ROE difference in each year.  That comes up to 12.3 million as resident in that line as a result of ROE change.


Then in lines 2 through 5, the GTA, Ottawa, WAMS and site restoration cost drivers resident in there, again because those projections of deficiencies include ROE forecasts versus the 893, is a total of $20.2 million as a result of the ROE difference, which --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which comes to --


MR. CULBERT:  -- which accumulates to 130.9.  That is just ROE, though.  That's not other elements of cost of capital projections.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So of the 333 million, 130 million is that one issue, right?  ROE?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Of that 333 million, $130 million --


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I am trying to narrow down what we are disagreeing about, right?


The other big ticket item that I thought was here and I didn't see it in your -- in CME 14, which is why I am going to ask you about it, I thought the expansion of your safety and integrity spending was a big impact, and I didn't see it as one of the drivers here.


Is it embedded somewhere?


MR. CULBERT:  The other system integrity spend would have impacts in some of each of, I would say, the cost of capital rate base growth, line 9.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?


MR. CULBERT:  So it is resident in there.  That's other rate base growth besides major projects.  So there's impacts in there.  There's also impacts in the depreciation line at line 15, so we segregated out depreciation expense on its own.


MR. SHERPHERD:  Then you'd have some tax impacts, as well?


MR. CULBERT:  Then you would have tax impacts, et cetera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have that somewhere, the entire impact of that increase in your safety and integrity budget?


MR. CULBERT:  We didn't look at it specifically in and of itself, no.  Like, we didn't do a driver of system integrity spend versus a base on its own.  It's just part of the overall picture.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is going to be a big number, right?  Because that is a big part of your capital plan?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  We definitely said we have an increase in projections of system integrity spend, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that something you can calculate?  I mean, if it is really complicated then we can try to find an estimate, but I would have thought that it is something that you can do a calculation that would be meaningful to the Board.


See, here is what I am trying to do, Mr. Culbert, and you will understand where I am going with this.


We've got a $333 million problem here.  We know where 130 million of it is; we can argue about that, and that is an issue that the Board can address.


Let's say that system integrity was 200 million, the rest of it.  That would simplify our discussion enormously.


Now, if it is only $20 million, then it doesn't help us that much, but I think it is a big number.  So I would like to see if we can get that number and see if we can narrow down the issues that we really have to address.


MR. CULBERT:  I am not sure how to respond.  I am in the Board's hands.


We could certainly attempt to do a calculation of sorts.  It would be a complicated exercise, so... I would need to figure out how it is relevant to what is in the base, or whether we're looking at it just purely incrementally as what you can imagine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at the expansion of your system integrity budget --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- not the baseline.  You spend on that every year, but your evidence has a whole section on why you have to expand it and what the costs of that expansion is.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The troubled look you see on my face is I am not sure the budget group, the department itself, has a sightline to purely system integrity spend that is as a result of changes that it is aware of or not, or whether it is integrated into the entire system integrity spend.  So how they draw a conclusion as to what amounts are as a result of changes or not, I am not sure they have that sightline.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I will ask, then.  Is it possible for you to at least do your best efforts to see if you can come up with a number that is the standalone impact on your application of the increase in system integrity spending?


MR. CULBERT:  I will certainly endeavour to speak with the budget department to see what we can ascertain and see what we can do.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Could we mark that as an undertaking?


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON IMPACT OF INCREASE IN SYSTEM INTEGRITY SPENDING ON THE APPLICATION.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd, I am mindful of the time and people needing to take a break, so when is a logical point for us to break for lunch?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to go to the details of the differences between the proposal and the Union deal, which is the last part of my cross-examination.  It would take about 45 minutes, so it may be better to do that after lunch.


MS. CONBOY:  Why don't we do that?  So we are going to break for an hour.  I know it is a bit odd to come back at 25 after, but let's try and keep tight on our timelines.  So we will see everybody back at 25 after 1:00.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:21 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:25 p.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Mr. Shepherd, I've got you down so far -- did you say you had another 45 minutes?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Maybe less, but I think I will be well within my time.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Everybody is taking shots at me today.


I want to turn to Exhibit K1.4, and I guess these questions are probably for you, Mr. Fischer, although, again, anybody can jump in.


You have said that one of the things that Enbridge looked at was Union IRM's plan; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, specifically, we looked at the IRM plan and tried to model what the impacts of the components of that plan would look like in terms of the revenue generated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I would like to do is I would like to go through their plan item by item and just try to figure out where your plan differs from theirs, because some of it is the same; right?  Some of it you are proposing the same things that they proposed?


MR. FISCHER:  I think the details may be different, but there are some similarities, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I just want to sort of focus in on where the differences are and understand why they exist.


I will start this by saying that, generally speaking, you don't -- Enbridge doesn't compare itself to Union; right?  You don't benchmark yourself to Union normally.  It is not something that is part of your normal approach; right?


MR. FISCHER:  No, only as a part of a group of other companies in terms of benchmarking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, even that, you haven't done that very often; right?  Concentric did it once for you, but you said at some point you have only done three benchmarking studies in the last 15 years; right?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.  I think specifically we said we only did three kinds of benchmarking, cost-related benchmarking, but I recall the response and you are correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we asked you at the technical conference to explain how you are different from Union from the point of view of an IRM structure, and you declined.  In TCU2.2, you declined to answer that; right?


MR. LISTER:  What I am recollecting -- I just have to refresh my memory here on TCU2.2.  What I do recall was SEC number 6, the interrogatory response where we indicated there were a number of items that caused us some concern in drawing direct comparisons to Union Gas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to draw your attention to the last page of TCU2.2:

"Considering the unique circumstances of individual companies, Enbridge is unable to comment on the challenges faced by Union Gas and Large Ontario electric LDCs."


We were trying to understand how your challenges are different from theirs.


MR. LISTER:  Right.  And as I expressed, the next sentence does say that in SEC interrogatory number 6, we do describe some of the high-level differences between Union Gas and Enbridge that make it difficult -- the enumeration of those issues do make it difficult for direct comparisons.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


What I would like to do, then, is if you could turn to page 5 of the Union plan.  This has at the top the three objectives from the Natural Gas Forum, and those are the same three objectives that you have talked about in your application; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you referred to them again in your opening remarks today; right?


MR. FISCHER:  I did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we have no disagreement on what those are?


MR. FISCHER:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then if you go to page 7, this is where the first big differences between your plan is and the Union plan, because the Union plan is a price cap index and your plan builds from the bottom up.


I understand that you don't think their plan is a price cap; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Well, we characterize it more as a revenue cap model, but I think, you know, if they want -- if you want to call it price cap, that's fine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  A price cap means that the volumes are not adjusted each year, right, whereas in a revenue cap they are?


MR. FISCHER:  I believe Union's model adjusts for customers each year, but it also does escalate total revenue, you know, by the I-X.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the structure that they have is quite different from yours; right?  For example, you don't have an inflation factor, because you don't have a formula.  You don't have a productivitY factor, right, because you don't have a formula; true?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  So our customized IR plan is not an I-X plan, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you do have Z factors and Y factors.  You do have an adjustment for normalized average consumption; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me go to 1.2.  This is the reason why I wanted your statements.


In the Union plan, they start with adjustments to their base rates.  And if you see in 1.2.1, there is a technical adjustment for deferred taxes, which doesn't apply to you; right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But there's also an upfront productivity commitment of $4.5 million built right into rates.  You haven't proposed anything like that, have you?


MR. LISTER:  No, we have not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?


MR. FISCHER:  Because our model is a model that relies on a forecast of allowed revenue which has embedded within that productivity.


MR. LISTER:  I am just going to aid my friend here and state the obvious, which is that this is a settlement outcome, as well.


We were not involved in the settlement.  We don't know the conditions around that productivity commitment, so I will leave my comments at that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Conditions like what?  It is in the agreement; right?  The Board has approved this.  Are you saying there is some secret side deal?


MR. LISTER:  No, no.  Whether there were puts or takes or the outcome of a settlement, how Union might have arrived at this was okay for them.


So in our particular circumstance, we can't really comment on whether something like that may or may not be appropriate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the fact is that they have agreed to reduce their going-in revenue requirement by $4.5 million, which works out to be $23 million over five years; right?


MR. CULBERT:  We can agree they've accepted that they are challenging themselves to find those productivities.  It says right in the agreement that is what they're looking to do.


So you have heard from Mr. Fischer and Mr. Lister that we have built in those types of -- not those types.  We have built in productivity expectations throughout our entity for the next five years.  So we would view those as being analogous to this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Unlike Union, which was willing to reduce its rates at the beginning of an IRM, you are actually increasing your rates at the beginning of the IRM; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Again, we don't know the circumstances of Union's puts and takes in the agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is just a factual question, Mr. Culbert.


MR. CULBERT:  The question is, sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Unlike Union, which agreed to reduce their rates in the first year of their plan, you are asking to increase your rates in the first year of your plan; right?


MR. CULBERT:  They actually agreed to reduce their rates or just reduce their rates by an amount which would lead to less of an increase.  I don't know the answer to that question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have seen the formula?


MR. CULBERT:  I have seen the formula.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Why wouldn't it be appropriate for Enbridge to reduce its rates at the beginning of IR term, start with a downward adjustment?  Why would that not be?


MR. CULBERT:  In fact, as Mr. Lister is pointing out, if you look at page 7 of Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 1, it is in fact showing that we do have -- as is evident in the CME 14, we are actually reducing rates by $31 million -- revenue requirement by $31 million in 2014.


So it is not specific to, I would hazard a guess, a productivity agreement that Union made, but our rates are -- our revenue requirement is actually going down by $31 million in the first --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you are giving us back $63 million of our money.


MR. LISTER:  No, that wouldn't include -- if I am reading this table correctly, which I am sure I am, that wouldn't include the SRC amounts, which are bill impact amounts.  There the decline is 3.5 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Actually, if you look at this particular exhibit, you will see that this includes the $241 million, of which 32 million is in 2014 for SRC changes.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that is part of entire proposal.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Mr. Shepherd, one of the things I'm struggling with is the elements of Union's case are specific to Union and the agreement they have is specific to their needs.


Our case is about the needs of the business and the needs of our customer, and the evidence speaks to that.


So I don't think it follows because Union has a rate decrease, that we have to have a rate decrease.  I think both utilities need to meet the needs of their customers in the business, and they have done that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying we can't even look at the Union model as it applies to Enbridge?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, I think, you know, when it comes to settlements, one of the challenges is it is a bit of a black box.  We don't know what the dialogue was that went into it.  And as Mr. Lister talked about, there's puts and takes, and we don't have a window into that.


So to that extent, we can't speak to the details.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You over-earned in 2013, right?  We accept that you have.  It's that we don't know how much yet, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check.  I can't say for certain, but it would seem that we have over-earned relative to an ROE formula, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you've set your budget for 2014 on the basis of 2013 Board-approved, then don't we have to reduce your budget for 2014 by the amount of the over-earning, because clearly you didn't spend all of your Board-approved?


MR. CULBERT:  No, that is not necessarily true, Mr. Shepherd.  Until I can provide the details of what the change in ROE would have come from, that is not necessarily true.  It could have been other circumstances that would have created an increase in ROE versus a base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Such as higher revenues?


MR. CULBERT:  Such as maybe we had differences in tax adds deducts relative to capital spend.  I know our capital spend is significantly higher than what was Board-approved for 2013, but I don't know the impacts necessarily of all of that yet.  So we would have spent more capital to the tune of anywhere between 60- to $90 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying there might have been a tax shield of in excess of 60- to $90 million?


MR. CULBERT:  Again, until I can go through the details to tell you what the drivers of that amount of over-earnings might be, I don't think it is fair to say that it is from reductions in spend.


I can tell you right now from a quick visual of some financials I have seen but I haven't had the time to spend on reviewing them, our O&M is almost spot on the $415 million that was agreed to, so it can't be an O&M driver.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to move to section 2, which is the inflation factor.


Now, your consultant has proposed an inflation factor for you, right?  To test the reasonableness of your budgets, right?


MR. LISTER:  I would say our consultant did a study or commented on what an appropriate inflation factor might be.  We haven't used it -- I think that is where you are going -- but they did study the inflation factor issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Fischer, didn't you say earlier that part of the reason why this proposal is reasonable is that your consultant said so?


MR. LISTER:  No.  I think what Mr. Fischer said earlier was that there was a specific test done to the O&M budget, which included a partial factor productivity, or a PFP, and an inflation pertaining to O&M.


And the result of that test signified that, from an O&M perspective, that Concentric concluded that there was efficiency, necessarily that there was efficiency in our O&M budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you didn't use that information in setting your budget?


MR. LISTER:  We did not use the -- we may have used an inflation factor in areas of our O&M budget.  Was it precisely the Concentric inflation factor?  I am not sure.


And it might not always have been.  You would have to ask the O&M panel that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually I think I heard Mr. Culbert say it was 1.7 percent.  Wasn't it?  Isn't that -- the inflation factor you used in your application was 1.7, right?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  That is the customer growth factor that we assumed came from our customer additions that were resident in our application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said earlier when we were talking about 1.3, K1.3, you said:  We used 2 percent in the -- as the escalator.  And in your application, you used 1.7 percent as your inflation factor.  That is what you said, right?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  Well, if that is how you interpreted it, then I am mistaken, because what we used the 1.7 percent for was our interpretations for undertakings and interrogatory responses in terms of what a Union model would produce for us as a customer growth stream.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.


MR. CULBERT:  That is what that was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your inflation factors, though, were not 3 percent or 2 and a half or whatever Mr. Coyne came up with, were they?


MR. LISTER:  I don't believe so.  I believe, just to take O&M as an example, certain costs were -- are outside of the -- are flow-through items.  So DSM, that would have its own O&M impact.  And it was really the other O&M that was the focus of applying inflation factors.


And as I alluded to this morning, there were a number of assumptions made throughout that process.  One, for example, was to keep labour costs at inflation levels.  And I can't remember precisely what number they used; I think it was 2 percent.


But by all means, please follow up with the O&M panel on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your budget letter, in fact, required people to put in budgets that were less than inflation, right?


MR. LISTER:  That sounds correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But they didn't.  They put in budgets that were higher than inflation.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Mr. Shepherd, if you look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 10, paragraph 19, sub-bullet (a), it indicates an inflation rate of approximately 2 percent was applied to all O&M departments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  So back to my subsequent question.


The budgets that were presented to you from the departments didn't keep the 2 percent cap, did they?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.  The evidence that Mr. Ryckman just pointed us to does describe that process, that what happened was a grassroots budget, a first pass of the grassroots budget was materially higher than an inflationary amount.


So there was a top-down directive to apply ceilings of inflation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your budget letter that went to them before their grassroots budget said:  Don't ask for more than inflation.  Right?  It said it right in the budget letter, but they did it anyway?


MR. LISTER:  I would have to answer that the feedback from the grassroots budgeting process did result in an amount that was higher than inflation, yes.


So those department owners, seeing their business needs, came back with higher amounts.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the next part of the Union deal is the productivitY factor, and you have said that your productivity is built in as opposed to being visible.  It's built into your numbers.


You have given us some examples and some calculations of that productivity.


You will agree, won't you, that the productivitY factor in the Union deal produces a reduction in rates of approximately $130 million over the five years?  Will you accept that, subject to check?


And this is probably for you, Mr. Culbert.


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check, sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because 40 percent is 108, so 130 is about right, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your evidence is that you have at least 130 million in productivity savings in your forecast, right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LISTER:  Is there a specific exhibit or a number you can point us to where you are referencing that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking you.  You have said in a number of places:  We saved this much, we saved this much.  Here is 30 million here, 50 million here.


Is the total $130 million?  Do you want to undertake?


MR. LISTER:  We could undertake to try a summation of amounts that are productivity commitments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be great.


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.6.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THERE IS AT LEAST $130 MILLION IN PRODUCTIVITY SAVINGS IN THE FORECAST.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next part of the Union deal is weather normalization.


I understand what Union has done is they have just taken from their last rebasing and said:  We will apply that.


What you are proposing is a change to your last rebasing, right?


MR. CULBERT:  We're proposing a change to the degree day methodology that was employed.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do I understand correctly that this is a change that you have proposed in the past and it was not accepted?  Is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  An exact change in terms of the methodology?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  I -- I can't respond to that.  You would have to ask the panel that is coming to speak to weather methodology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But what you are proposing is that it will change each year; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  We are proposing, I believe –- again, subject to checking with the panel that deals with this -- we're proposing a change in the methodology, the results of which would be reproduced every year, but the methodology would be constant throughout the five-year term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And it is by region, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The fifth area is normalized average consumption.  Now, you are proposing an adjustment that would capture this, right, but not the same way as Union?


MR. LISTER:  We're proposing an annual reforecast of volumes as we did in our first generation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So the result of that annual reforecast is that you end up, on a prospective basis each year, getting to same result as Union, right, which is you are protected on your volumes?


MR. CULBERT:  There's a true-up in terms of our average use differences that occur.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you end up getting to the same result as they do, just a different way?


MR. LISTER:  I just want to confer for one moment.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CULBERT:  I hate to punt the question again, but we are not familiar enough with what Union is doing relative to what our process is, so you are probably best to ask the panel for weather methodology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For weather?


MR. CULBERT:  volumes, sorry, the same panel as weather methodology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that under your proposal for volumes you don't take the risk of volumes that adjust for business changes?


So if the economy goes down the tubes and, as a result, your volumes go down, that's a ratepayer risk; right?


MR. LISTER:  On the volume side, certainly a reforecast helps mitigate that risk.  Does it eliminate it completely?  I don't think so, because you still have a one-year duration through which you have set the volumes.


But there are other related risks due to economic downturn, for example, that may have an impact on other costs or the ability to generate revenues, aggregate revenues.


So I don't know that it is as simple as saying, if the economy goes down, volumes go down and, therefore, our risk is removed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The volume risk you would have in a normal IRM in an I-X, and you had the last time around, right, would go?  It would be gone?


MR. LISTER:  It is certainly mitigated to a one-year impact.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.


Next is Y factors, and the Y factors that you have are essentially the same as Union, with two exceptions, if I understand correctly.


The first is customer care.  You have a Y factor for customer care and Union does not; right?


MR. CULBERT:  True, true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the major capital additions, you have proposed to handle that differently through a budget as opposed to an adjustment factor, a Y factor, as in the Union deal; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  A major portion of our application is that we are forecasting capital additions versus using this approach, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the major difference between those two approaches, if I understand it correctly, is that for Union to get extra money for a capital addition, a project, it has to be a very big project.  It has to be out of the ordinary course of business, and it has to be sort of a one-off a single project as opposed to your proposal, which is everything that you spend in excess of your base is fully funded; right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LISTER:  Yes, it is true that we have forecasted the entirety of our capital spending plans and we have built that into the projection of allowed revenues.


And we don't have an outlet, such as -- I don't know what Union's called it -- Y factor for major projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You get everything that they get, plus more, right, because you get the smaller stuff, too, under your proposal?


MR. CULBERT:  I am not sure we would refer to it as "smaller stuff".  As you have probably read in our evidence, and you can check with the capital expenditures panel, we are forecasting a multitude of major increases in capital spend that we're faced with.  They're not an individual project, per se, but there are major capital spends that have to occur.


GTA has been dealt with in terms of the LTC by the Board.  We have a WAMS project.  We have the Ottawa reinforcement.


I know we have agreed in terms of analysis, in terms of what they would be treated as, as a Y factor, but there is other elements of our cap-ex that that panel will speak to in terms of why we've come forward with this application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You would agree that your GTA and Ottawa projects would qualify for major capital additions under the Union structure, right, probably?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, I would agree that it seems they would qualify.  I have a little bit of an interpretation issue with the Y factor or the major capital passages.  It would seem to me that one of the bullets states that if you meet a revenue requirement of $5 million in any one year of the term, that you get recovery of the project, but the last bullet says if you don't meet $5 million in all years, that you don't get recovery of anything.  So I am not sure how that works, necessarily.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, I see, okay.


So you don't know whether, then, they would be funded?


MR. CULBERT:  My interpretation of it is it seems to have some issues with the wording, but that is my interpretation, though.  Perhaps parties to the settlement have a different interpretation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


It is also true, isn't it, that under your proposal, if you spend less on capital than you are forecasting to this Board, you don't have to give the money back, do you?


MR. CULBERT:  To the extent that it has an impact on what our earnings are during the year, there is ESM, which would accommodate returns of amounts to customers if we pierced 100 basis points dead band.  And in terms of rebasing, whatever our actual rate base is, it would need to be tested by the Board in terms of its validity and rates would be adjusted going forward, yes.


We do have a proposal for one of the major elements of our capital spend which, again, the Board has dealt with in the LTC for the GTA, which is we proposed a variance account around that project, given the significant nature of the project, that we would only recover the actual amount of revenue requirement that ensues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the Union plan, their extra capital funding is also subject to a variance account, so it is trued up at the end; right?


MR. CULBERT:  From my understanding, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not true of your forecast?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  Like I said, if we were to underspend, the implications of that would be handled in actuals and earnings sharing throughout the term and upon rebasing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it handled upon rebasing?  Can the Board go back and say, Wait a second, you didn't spend all of that money; give it back?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  What we're saying is, upon rebasing, our rate base would go to whatever level it is commensurate with spending and rates would be adjusted going forward.


So to the extent there is an overearnings implication from it, it happens inside the ESM proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you could spend less on capital during the five years than your budget that you presented to this Board.  You could spend less, and as long as you keep that within 100 basis points, it all goes to the shareholder and nothing else happens; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, I suppose theoretically that would happen.  However, the Board's report, RRFE report, says the Board would be monitoring capital spend for companies that come forward with this type of a proposal.


So I am not sure what the Board intends to do with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you an electric -- you're not part of the --


MR. CULBERT:  No, but I would imagine if the Board accepts our proposal in the term that it is constituted, that they would look at it in the same vein.  That is our opinion of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't that be retroactive rate-making if they came back and said, Now give us back this money?


MR. CULBERT:  We can't ascertain what the Board means by that in the RRFE, but they said they would certainly be looking at what capital spends are during the five-year term relative to projections.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not currently anticipating that if you underspend on capital, you have to give any back, are you?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  We're anticipating that whatever our spends are that create a certain return would be viewed inside of an ESM annually, and if there is implications from it in terms of earnings sharing, then...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


On page 22, there's a discussion of deferral and variance accounts.  Basically, with a couple of exceptions, your deferral and variance accounts are very similar to Union's; right?


MR. CULBERT:  I can take that subject to check, sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In Z factors on the next page, we have talked about the differences of Z factors and you have proposed -- I think there is two differences; right?


One is you proposed a definitional change, which would make -- mean certain things would be eligible for Z factors that wouldn't be under the old wording, and the second is that the Union threshold of 4 million you would leave at the current 1.5 million; isn't that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  We're proposing that the threshold remain at the 1.5 million that it was in the first generation plan, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I just want to look at -- on page 23 of this plan, you see item 1 under number 8.  The condition that they word is:

“...causally relate to an external event that is beyond the control of utility's management."


If I understand what you are saying in your proposal, it is you don't want it to be an external event.  You want it to be an external cause.  And you want it to be not beyond the control of the utility's management, but mostly or primarily beyond the control of the utility's management.  Is that a fair sort of description of it?

MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  Again, you know, the wording is trying to address that there isn't always this bright line that you can draw.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next item is the term of the plan, and yours is five years and theirs is five years, right?

MR. FISCHER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the next item is off-ramps, and in the Union plan there is no off-ramp, right?

MR. FISCHER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are proposing an off-ramp?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes.  So our off-ramp proposal is a carry-forward of the same off-ramp that existed in the first generation IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why is yours superior to theirs?


MR. LISTER:  Theirs isn't superior.  As Mr. Fischer and Mr. Culbert were alluding to as well, we took some cues from the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electric Utilities Report.  And in there, I believe it is indicated that the 300-basis-point off-ramp would stay the same in any custom IR application as well.


So all of those factors, the fact that it was -- we had it in our first term, it continues for the electrics, I think makes it a reasonable proposition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then let me turn to page --


MR. RYCKMAN:  The other thing I would just add, Mr. Shepherd -- sorry to interrupt -- is from the 300 basis points, it does provide some protection in the context of if earnings are much greater than anticipated, it triggers a review.  But also if things go awry on the downside and -- you know, significantly awry, then it triggers a review as well.  So it is symmetric in that respect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you were 300 basis points below Board-approved ROE, then aside from the fact that some people in Calgary would be jumping up and down and yelling at you, the Board would be concerned too, right?  In any case?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I believe they would be, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This would be a financial difficulty situation, right?  You would be off your covenants and all sorts of stuff?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I can't speak on behalf of the Board, but I wouldn't be surprised if they were concerned.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there an implication that in the off-ramp, that if you're earning 300 basis points more than the Board-approved ROE, that that is okay?  It is covered in earnings sharing, and so really the Board doesn't need to be concerned about that even if it is year after year?  Is that sort of implied?

MR. LISTER:  Sorry, the question is:  Does it imply that if we're earning more than 300 basis points, that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Up to 300 basis points.


MR. LISTER:  That the Board shouldn't be concerned because we're going to be having an ESM?  No, I don't think that is implied.


I think, as Mr. Ryckman just pointed out, all parties would want to ensure that actual earnings are not outside of a band plus or minus 300 basis points.


The utility would be concerned because of covenant issues, and certainly ratepayers would be concerned.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you would be concerned with covenants if you were 100 or 150 basis points below, wouldn't you?


MR. LISTER:  That's probably true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 300 basis points really doesn't do anything for you in terms of the downside, because if you start to go offside in your covenants, you're going to have to come back to the Board anyway, right?  Or do something, regardless of whether there is an off-ramp?


MR. LISTER:  I don't know what mechanism would be available for us to come back to the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that you would be prohibited from coming back to the Board if you were going to miss your covenants on your debt?

MR. LISTER:  I don't know exactly what the implications would be.  I do know that if we were short of the off-ramp, we would not be availed of the opportunity for early dismissal of this plan.

MR. CULBERT:  If I can add, Mr. Shepherd, I think one of the benefits of this type of approach is that, as you and I have discussed in ESM proceedings in the past, once you decouple your rates from your costs -- as we know happens in a typical IR model -- it is pretty difficult to determine exact drivers of sufficiencies or deficiencies, because you're not comparing to a set of costs that are underpinning the rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. CULBERT:  So it is pretty difficult to come to an absolute characterization or development of drivers of changes in costs relative to a revenue stream that is not attached to costs.


In this application, I believe it will be beneficial to the Board when we come back for ESMs if the Board ended up structuring our application based off of cost projections.  As we agreed, those are our cost projections.  Those are our best estimate of costs that we have come up with.  We will be able to see where changes have occurred relative to total costs granted, to see what elements of change are driving increases in return.


Much better sightline for the Board to be able to say why things are happening inside of our entity, both from an over-earnings perspective or under-earnings perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are proposing that the Board wouldn't be able to do anything about that?  As long as you're within the 300 basis points band, the Board might see that it turned out your forecast for various types of O&M costs were completely wonky, but it couldn't do anything about it?


MR. CULBERT:  Our proposal is that we will be reporting on the things that change during the ESMs.  We will be able to show what the changes are relative to, explain them all.  And we believe, from our perspective, we will be able to show that productivity will be the majority of what has occurred based on our challenges we're talking about here.


We don't think we're going to get beyond 100 basis points above an ROE.  We think we're going to be challenged to meet the ROEs that we have included inside of these projections.


But certainly if the numbers were inside of a range of 300 basis points, we would have to explain what they came about from, and if we were unable to do so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  There would be no consequences.


MR. CULBERT:  Well, our proposal is that we will be able to show that we do things that get us to -- if we can get to 300 basis points, we will be able to show those things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The other thing you are including which is not in the Union deal is the SEIM, which is basically sort of another way of sharing earnings, right?

It's saying:  Well, if we're over-earning, then subject to a bunch of conditions, show that we're over-earning because we're being efficient, that we get more, a bigger share of that, than we would otherwise have gotten; isn't that right?


MR. LISTER:  Not exactly.  What it would do is give us the right to apply and to justify that there is greater ratepayer benefit than there is long-term shareholder value, so...


And other conditions as well, such as our SQR performance didn't degrade our performance metrics.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it all comes out of your over-earnings, so that means that basically the SEIM is a method for you getting a bigger piece of the over-earnings if you can prove the conditions are met, right?

MR. LISTER:  If we can prove that the long-term value for ratepayers is greater, then we would be entitled to a SEIM reward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I can move to --


MR. RYCKMAN:  If I can just provide an example or some context, again, the SEIM is trying to create a mechanism that will incent productivity over the whole term of the IR plan.  And in the latter years, you can actually have negative impacts on earnings as you are undertaking some of those productivity measures.  So whether, again, it is process reengineering or you are bringing in new technology, it can actually be a drag in the latter years.


So once again, the SEIM is meant to try to look at that longer-term value for both ratepayer and the shareholder, and trying to provide that incentive over the whole IR term, again, whether you are in the first day or the last day.  That is what we're trying to accomplish with the SEIM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We understand.


MR. FISCHER:  Perhaps just to add to what Mr. Ryckman just commented on, there is clearly that benefit during the IR term of incenting the company to find efficiencies right through the whole IR period.


But the reality is the way we're designing this SEIM is that ratepayers are net beneficiaries of the SEIM and SEIM awards.


We get an award as measured against ROE, actual ROE after earnings sharing versus allowed, but we only get that reward if the value of the sustainable efficiencies that will exist beyond the IR term are greater than that amount.


And so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you only get it if you over-earn?

MR. FISCHER:  So then -- pardon me?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You only get it if you over-earn, right?

MR. FISCHER:  We only get potential to earn an award if we earn higher than the ROE after earnings sharing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move to -- I am almost finished, Madam Chair.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  To page 27.  This is the reporting requirements for Union Gas.


Are your reporting requirements that you are proposing, are they similar to these, or are they different?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LISTER:  Mr. Shepherd, I think the answer to your question is it is not very different.


We haven't mapped this against what it is that we are proposing to annually report, so we don't know specifically, but we would be happy to do that by undertaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's where I was going to go.  If you could just make sort of a check mark, yes, yes, yes, no, yes, here is an additional one that we propose, et cetera, so we can see what the differences are and simplify this.


MR. LISTER:  Great.


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.7, thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO ADVISE WHETHER ENBRIDGE'S PROPOSED reporting requirements similar to UNION'S OR DIFFERENT


MR. SHEPHERD:  Union has proposed an annual stakeholder meeting, and I understand that you have not proposed anything like that, but -- sorry, so I guess I am going to ask why.


MR. LISTER:  In our view, there is already a lot of reporting that happens, and ESM proceedings can take a long time.  It is our view that there is a lot of material is already -- will already be on the record through the ESM proceedings, and we have offered to annually produce a bunch more materials, including the productivity initiatives report and, at the end of the term, the performance benchmarking.  I don't --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


MR. LISTER:  Beyond that, I don't know if Mr. Fischer or Mr. Ryckman want to add anything, but...


MR. CULBERT:  We believe it is efficient to have all of that happen inside of the ESM proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are not proposing that you would disclose any less to your stakeholders than Union, are you?


MR. CULBERT:  Our proposal, for the most part -- I think there are some additions, but our proposal is to pretty much to provide what we did during our first gen IR.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.


The next is, on page 29, there is the rate-setting process.  Basically, your annual adjustment process would be quite different from Union's, because you would be updating a whole lot of different items as part of your rate-setting process, right, volumes and Y factors, et cetera?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LISTER:  Our view of it is the only difference is we would have an annual volume reforecast.  We presume Union has flow-through items like DSM.  We don't know that for sure.  We're not that familiar with the Union model, but -- so that would be the only significant difference, from our view, would be a volume reforecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On page 30 --


MR. RYCKMAN:  If I can just interrupt, though?  One thing I did want to add is the annual rate adjustment is very similar to what we did in the first gen plan.  So I am not aware that there is any significant difference from what we did in the first gen plan.  So I think that is important to recognize, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On page 30 of this plan, there is reference to new regulated energy services, I guess new rate classes or new offerings to your customers.


Have you made a proposal in this plan about how those would be dealt with during your IRM?  If you wanted to offer a new rate, for example, or you wanted to restructure a rate, have you made a proposal for how that should be dealt with in your plan?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It is the same as it was in the first gen.  So we would come before the Board for approval for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's the same as Union, then?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Based on my understanding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is just two others.  On page 33, Union has agreed that if they have service charges that are not energy related -- you have a number of service charges that are not energy related, as well -- that you have to -- they have to come to the Board, but they're not part of the price cap.  They're not part of the formula.


The same with you; right?  If you wanted to change your various miscellaneous charges, you can, but you have to come to the Board for approval and they're not part of your proposal generally?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  I think we had one occurrence of that during our first gen IR term, but we're proposing the same process.


MR. LISTER:  Again, that is the same as our first generation plan, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


Finally, on page 34, this deals with rebasing in 2019.  And if I understand what you are proposing, it is essentially the same as Union.  You are agreeing that you will file -- regardless of whether you are rebasing, you will file a full cost of service application in 2019?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  To the best of your knowledge, have I missed any of the other factors in this comparison between the two?  Have we caught everything, or does something jump out at you, put it that way?  I can't think of anything.


MR. CULBERT:  Not at this time.  If I do, I will certainly bring it to your attention.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I think I have -- I think I have three minutes, but I don't need them.  I'm sorry.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay, thank you very much.  And you have led by good example by coming in under budget in your time.


[Laughter]


MS. CONBOY:  No pressure, Ms. Sebalj, but you are next and I have you down for 30 minutes.  So if you want to take us to the break, that would be great.


And if I am correct, I've got Mr. Quinn up after Board Staff and Mr. Brett after Mr. Quinn.  Is that correct, Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I hadn't heard that yet, but that's fine.


[Laughter]


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Well, then if you both could also have a look at the cross-examination that has been done to this point and if you can -- if there are any revisions to your timetables, let us know.  Go ahead, Ms. Sebalj.


MS. SEBALJ:  Staff does have a compendium, and we're going to -- Mr. Schuch is going to distribute that -- my apologies, it wasn't done on the break -- to the panel.


I know some people grabbed them, but certainly to Enbridge, can you distribute those, as well?


MS. SEBALJ:  There is nothing that isn't already in evidence in the compendium.  I will be referring to it.  There are a couple of issues with it, but I will bring you to those when they're relevant.


Oh, and I will give it a number, K1.5.  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  I am going to spend most of my 30 minutes on the SEIM, with a little bit on Z factor, and then a couple of other general questions just by way of mapping it out for you.


Who was the architect of the SEIM, both generally and particularly?  It is not clear to me from the evidence and reading LEI's report what their involvement was versus the employees, and I just wonder who either on this panel or within the company was the architect.


MR. LISTER:  I would respond that it was an Enbridge-led mechanism, and it was no single person; the regulatory team mostly.  We did bounce ideas off of our consultants, but it was an Enbridge mechanism.


MS. SEBALJ:  When you say you bounced ideas off your consultants, obviously there was an updated report from Ms. Frayer of LEI, but that was -- the SEIM didn't involve input from her.  It was, rather, an ex post review of it; is that correct?  Is that a correct statement?


MR. LISTER:  My recollection was that coming out of the stakeholder -- I can't remember what it was called.  I believe it was called a stakeholder information day -- there was concern with the SEIM.


So we undertook to re-evaluate it, and in doing that we talked to LEI and we wanted to ensure we hadn't missed anything -- sorry, London Economics is LEI -- and they offered an evaluation and assessment of it, and that was filed, as well, along with the updated SEIM evidence.


MS. SEBALJ:  But that evaluation was done after Enbridge had re --


MR. LISTER:  It was probably done before we had sort of the ink had dried on the updated SEIM proposal.  I don't recall if there were any changes that we made as a result of an LEI assessment, but certainly the effort was all done at the same time.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thanks.


I just need to be clear what question should go to this panel and whether I can ask any of Ms. Frayer.


So by way of clarification, are all the initiatives intended to be eligible for a SEIM reward incremental to whatever the company needs to do to make up for its embedded productivity in the rate case?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. LISTER:  The answer is yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  So all of the implicit what you call embedded or -- I think at one point in the evidence it is implicit reductions.  So this is the FTEs, the debt, bad debt, the labour costs, all of that, which you -- I think you have provided an undertaking, which is J1.6, to attempt to quantify those.


So all of that is completely separate and apart from whatever will be SEIM-eligible?

MR. LISTER:  I think that is accurate, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So when we see these incremental SEIM initiatives, those are going to be tracked, I think, according to your evidence, in the proposed productivity initiatives report; correct?

MR. LISTER:  Correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  That is going to look like what?

MR. LISTER:  There was an example provided.  I will just refresh my memory here.  I think it was at the back of Exhibit A2, tab 11, schedule 2, which talks about the productivity initiatives report, and specifically it is page 10 of 13 and page 11 of 13.

There is provided an example of what the productivity initiatives report would specifically look like for capital projects and/or for O&M projects.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And how will we know -- so to your point, you had a fairly thorough discussion with Mr. Shepherd with respect to these initiatives and how the embedded costs -- well, let me take you to paragraph 18.  I think this is the best way to do it.  Paragraph 18 of A2, tab 1, schedule 2, which is tab 5 of K1.5.

So in tab 5, paragraph -- sorry, tab 15.  My apologies.  Tab 15.  Paragraph 18.  This is the point I think you made to Mr. Shepherd:

“In summary, the company has implicitly recognized productivity into its forecast of O&M budgets for 2014 to 2016 by not accounting for known or highly probably cost increases over the forecast horizon and by holding several costs flat, which in reality will not be flat."

And so you had this discussion with Mr. Shepherd, but Staff's concern is then you are going to have a productivity initiatives report and in that report you will have listed the various projects that may be SEIM-eligible, but how will we know when you have hit the threshold between recovering from embedded productivity and moving into SEIM-eligible projects?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CULBERT:  I made a statement earlier in discussion with Mr. Shepherd.  This is why we believe it is important that the mechanism with -- which we have applied for is used for purposes of establishing what the Board will allow as a rate mechanism.  That way you do have an insight as to what your projected costs are.


So we will be able to look at our actuals in various categories of planned spend, to be able to show if, in fact, we have achieved greater productivities than we embedded in those line items of expense or not.


So that is how we would propose we would be able to show it to you.


And the table Mr. Lister is referring to is a simplified version of it, but in that table we would be able to show this project occurred relative to what was in line item whatever of our O&M expenses.  And of course if we spend all the dollars that are in our projections, we will only meet the ROEs that we've proposed to begin with.


So we would be able to show what changes occurred relative to line items of cost, to prove whether or not we have in fact been more productive.  Or driven out efficiencies that will be sustainable going forward.

MR. LISTER:  Another distinction that I would just draw your attention to is that the way that we would calculate the SEIM -- as described in the evidence -- would be on the basis of the long-term benefits.  So these would be benefits that extend well beyond the rebasing year.


I just wanted to highlight that point as well.  That is critical to the SEIM.


MS. SEBALJ:  But I'm a bit confused about what you just said, Mr. Culbert, because what you're essentially saying is:  Well, if we've met the ROE, then that is all the embedded productivity and everything over and above that will be SEIM-eligible; is that what you have --


MR. CULBERT:  Well, if -- I guess what I am trying to say is if you look at the line items of O&M expenses -- I am just using O&M as an example that we have projected right now -- if we spend every dollar of that money and all of our capital spend, obviously we are going to achieve the ROE that is embedded in our application.  So therefore we wouldn't be SEIM-eligible, because we would have spent all of the monies in the exact same fashion that we've projected.


If things are different and we look to various areas to drive out more efficiencies than we have projected right now and we're able to do so, we would have a sightline to be able to show the Board where, in fact, we did those things, how they came about, versus the line items that we have shown as projections right now, to be able to prove whether or not we have driven out sustainable efficiencies.

MS. SEBALJ:  But at the end of the day, the -- there will be reasons other than productivity for you to achieve ROE?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, and that is part of our proposal.  We will need to prove to the Board how the efficiencies came about, or if efficiencies came about.

MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  I am going to get sort of into that in more detail in a second, but just sort of -- I am still at the general level.  If we turn to tab 14, I think it is, in Staff's compendium, paragraph 20 -- let me just make sure that is right.  So paragraph 20, which is on page 6, begins:

"The modified SEIM proposal will consist of the following..."


And then in (ii), it says:

“Similar to the Alberta ECM, the amount of the available reward will be a function of the difference between EGD's actual and allowed ROE during the term of the plan."


And then at paragraph 21 under "Step 1," you say:

“The amount of the SEIM reward that is available is based on a comparison of EGD's average actual ROE for each year of the IR term compared to the Board-allowed ROE for each year."


Correct?


MR. LISTER:  I think so.  You moved really fast through there.  I wasn't able to follow all of your references, but...


MS. SEBALJ:  I am sure the court reporter and Bonnie are not happy with me right now.


The reason I raise it is I would like to know why a five-year average is appropriate.  Given that the SEIM initiative is intended to incentivize the company to implement productivity improvements in the later years of the IR term, why wouldn't we average the last two years, for instance, of the planned term, as opposed to all five years?  Why would an ROE -- an over-earn in the first year of the plan be remotely relevant to this?

MR. LISTER:  I think there are a few points I would make to that.


Number one, we modelled it after Alberta on purpose, primarily because it was another Canadian regulator who had approved this and had good things generally to say about it.  So that was our starting point.


As well, it would just add to -- in our view, the incent -- the intent is not only to further incent the utility to make productivity-enhancing investments in the later years of the plan.  And I think Mr. Ryckman talked to this earlier.  He said it is from day one to the very end of the term, the incentive is generated through the SEIM mechanism.


Frequently, a criticism of IR plans is that over-earnings may be achieved by some sort of cost deferment or cost -- short-term cost cutting.  So the SEIM is intended to cut right through all of that, and just say:  If there are indeed enhancements that generate long-term efficiencies, then the utility should stand to reward only -- to earn a reward only if the benefit to ratepayers is greater than that.


So coming back to the answer to your question, the answer why was it five years, the answer is because we started the modelling process after the Alberta mechanism that is in place.  But it is not only to incent -- I wanted to clarify that it is not only to incent productivity investments in later years of the plan, although that is a part of it, as well.


MS. SEBALJ:  But you don't need an incentive on day 1 of the plan to implement these productivity initiatives, do you?


MR. LISTER:  It is absolutely true that incentive rate-making, in general, the decoupling of costs from revenues creates an incentive.


However, in our experience, there's often a criticism or a concern that some overearnings may have been generated by cost deferments or cost cutting.  So the SEIM is an attempt to say, well, then let's measure exactly what is generating the long-term sustainable benefits.


MS. SEBALJ:  So if I put it to you this way, would Enbridge be opposed to a two-year average, the last two years of the IR plan, as opposed to a five-year average of ROE?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CASS:  Kristi, while the witnesses are conferring, I don't know whether this is helpful.  I wanted to stress, though, that there seems to be an effort to compare Enbridge's proposed mechanism to efficiency carry-over mechanisms, and certainly that is part of it, and efficiency carry-over mechanisms I believe are, as you indicate, aimed at the latter years of an IR plan.


That is not all of Enbridge's mechanism, though.  That is part of it.  Enbridge's mechanism, as the witnesses have been saying, is to create sustainable efficiencies that endure past rebasing, and that can happen any time during the IR plan.


The point is, whenever they happen during the IR plan, they should be sustainable beyond rebasing.  That is the other part that seems to be missing in this discussion.


MR. RYCKMAN:  The other thing I would just like to add to that, though, what we're trying to do is establish a structure by which we can come before the Board in the future and put this information in front of them in terms of the sustainable efficiencies and a determination can be made.


So it is true we're trying to set certain parameters or structure around that at this time.  The decision will have to be made once we come forward with that information and can clearly demonstrate that the longer term benefits for ratepayers for customers exceeds the benefit that we would receive.


MS. SEBALJ:  So there is no specific answer to my question, or...


MR. LISTER:  All of the comments, I think, have been very helpful, and I don't know that sitting here on the witness panel we would be able to necessarily change direction.


Our concern would obviously be that it would weaken the incentive that was -- that is the purpose of the mechanism.  But at a very high level, I think we're comfortable enough saying we wouldn't necessarily be opposed to that, but, again, our concern would be it might weaken the incentive and it might actually skew the reward potential one way or another by averaging only over two years as opposed to five.


MR. RYCKMAN:  In terms of trying to create that incentive, we spent a great deal of time trying to think through this, and you can see some of the evolution of the thinking through this case, as well.


They are challenging things to construct but, once again, we feel they're worthwhile, and we would want to be able to consider if there was a significant weakening of the incentive through that process.  I think it would have to be thought through.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, let me move on, then, to something more specific.


The fact -- in your evidence, you essentially say that the fact that the utilities achieved ROE in excess of the Board-approved level may or may not relate to productivity gains.


You say that in your evidence.  Is that accurate?  Do you want me to tell you where?


MR. LISTER:  Yes, I believe that is accurate.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  And the way, I think, that you attempt to deal with that is this NPV calculation; is that correct?  This NPV, what -- I will call it is a trigger.  It doesn't determine the reward, but it is, essentially, if not passed, then you do not go on to determine the reward potential?


MR. LISTER:  That's true, so it is the test.


MS. SEBALJ:  So you distributed a very helpful handout during the technical conference, which was TC1.5, which you will find at tab 12 of K1.5, where you provided a numerical example and you walked us through the SEIM calculation.


I don't intend to go through that in detail, but I do intend to go through one piece, which is this NPV calculation.  If you look at slide 4 at the very top, it says, "NPV of benefits from the Productivity Initiatives Report for projects undertaken during 2014-2018 > greater than $3.6 million", which is determined -- that's the SEIM reward potential which is determined on the previous slide.


Then you take us to slide 5 where you do this NPV from the productivity initiatives report; correct?


MR. LISTER:  I see that, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So as I understand it, the point of doing this is to ensure that the rewards under the SEIM result only from productivity gains rather than factors beyond the company's control; correct?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And you are proposing to compare the NPV calculation to the SEIM reward potential in 2019; correct?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And in the example on page 5, if I add up the numbers from 2014 to 2018, would you take it subject to check that that results in a negative $23.5 million NPV, or thereabouts?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LISTER:  Sorry for that.  We just wanted to confer.


Our understanding of our own chart is that what you are looking at at the bottom in the row entitled "Total" --


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.


MR. LISTER:  -- is not an NPV.  So, for example, in 2014 in row B, there is an investment made in a particular project.  So that cash outlay in that particular year is 2-and-a-half million dollars.  That generates a stream of benefits, in this example, of half a million dollars per year going forward.


So it mixes in with the actual long stream benefits with the amount of the initial outlay, so I don't know that those are necessarily NPV values.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I am confused by that, because if I look at the "Total" row and I go all the way to the end, it says the total NPV is 5 million.  And if I sum that row, I come to 5 million.


So if these are cash outlays, then I don't know how that ends up in an NPV total at the end.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FISCHER:  So without going through all the numbers again, maybe just to describe again the intent of the NPV calculation.


So we're uncertain if these are the NPVs for each of the years for each of the initiatives or not, but the NPV of all of the benefits is intended to be represented by the last column.  And, again, all of these numbers are illustrative.


So the focus really was to illustrate a stream of costs and benefits associated with each hypothetical initiative, and at the last column, it would be a representation of the NPV of that stream of costs and benefits for each of those initiatives.  So that was the intent.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.


MR. LISTER:  So if you look at row A, maybe this will help.  I hope it helps.  If you look at row A, there is an outlay of $14 million, and that generates a stream of benefits.  The NPV of that project -- and these numbers don't add up.  They're purely fictitious.  We were just illustrating a point.


The NPV in the final column there was two dollars.  So the sum of all of the NPVs in that last column titled "Total NPV" was five dollars.  That is where we get the five dollars.


So the justification wouldn't be the cash outlays to invest in the projects.  It would be the NPV, which is the far right column.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And I think you mean $5 million, because you concluded that 5 million over --


MR. LISTER:  In -– yes.  This must be in millions, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Greater than 3.6 million?


So the cash outlays during those years, are those baked into your current proposal, your current rates?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SEBALJ:  And I don't mean these cash outlays, obviously, because this is illustrative.  I get that.  But I mean, whatever your initiatives are going to be for the SEIM.  I assume the answer is no, because I think you've told us you don't know what the initiatives are yet; is that correct?


MR. LISTER:  That's right.


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.  Distracted.


So the costs of this will be borne entirely by the company, the costs of these initiatives?


MR. LISTER:  I guess I would answer they're not reflected in a budget anywhere.  If -- so theoretically, I think the answer is yes.  They're not reflected in a budget anywhere, an allowed revenue amount anywhere in our application.


So given that they would be incremental...


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I am still a little troubled by this slide, and I am wondering if the author of the slide -- is the author of the slide on this panel?


MR. FISCHER:  No.


MS. SEBALJ:  And is the author of this slide on any subsequent panel?


MR. FISCHER:  You know, I think if you need assistance or an undertaking to do something, I think we can do that.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, I would like an undertaking, because by my math these numbers actually do add up by row.  I think this is actually quite a robust example, and I actually think these are NPVs.


And if that is the case, and because I am not going to have another crack at this, the point, I think, of this cross-examination is to say that if we add up the NPVs up to 2018, it comes to minus 23.5 million, which you can take subject to check.


And by definition, that means that during the plan term -- and let's just for a second assume that these are NPVs, and I will get an undertaking in a second so that you can explain the chart, I guess, in a subsequent undertaking.  But if that is the case, then during the plan term that you are currently asking the Board for approval of, it is a negative NPV?


MR. FISCHER:  Subject to check to the number, I would agree, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Doesn't that then mean, by definition, that during this period -- which is the period after which you are going to be asking for a SEIM reward, the productivity initiatives will have reduced Enbridge's earned returns?  Is that correct?


MR. RYCKMAN:  They could very well have.  You know, again, that is one of the challenges with pursuing productivity later in the IR term.


So the way I look at this -- and it might add more confusion, but I will give it a try anyway -- you have initiative A and in 2017 you undertake that initiative at a cost of $14 million.


The benefits flow after that and accumulate over time, and what you are saying is that the $14 million and the -- so the cash outflow and the benefits that will be realized in the future result in an NPV of 2.  So again, you are looking out past that term.


Then in 2014, you've got this $2.5 million initiative, and it generates the benefits that you see that follow.


C, you've got $3 million you spend in 2018.  The benefits follow, and so on and so forth.


So you always –- you're quite often having to have cash outlays to pursue some of this productivity, and that is the exact point, in my view.


In the last two years, three years of an IR term, you may not even recover your cash outflow, and then you are rebasing.  So again, the incentive is to try to pursue those, to recognize the long-term benefits of those initiatives against the short-term impacts that they have within the five-year plan.


I don't know if that helps.


MS. SEBALJ:  No, absolutely.  That is exactly what I understand the point to be.  My only -- the reason for my question was that at the time that this analysis will be done, there will be no -- if these numbers are indeed NPV, it will be clear that any productivity gains during the plan term were not due to these initiatives.  Any excess ROE will not be due to these initiatives, by definition.


MR. LISTER:  In this example, I think in the aggregate that is correct.  There are positive benefits that flow through.


So for example, in 2018 you see some positive benefits from earlier investments -- 0.5 million for Project A, 0.5 million for Project B -- which help to offset other cost outlays, but theoretically in this example, I believe you are correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Would you like to give an undertaking number to your request, please?


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, thank you for reminding me about my own cross.


So J1.8 is an undertaking basically to look at slide 5 of TC1.5 and confirm, if possible, that these are indeed NPV numbers.  And if they are not, to explain what the chart is showing us numerically.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  to CONFIRM whether NUMBERS ON SLIDE 5 OF TC1.5 ARE NPV NUMBERS; IF NOT, EXPLAIN WHAT THE CHART IS SHOWING NUMERICALLY.


MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Sebalj, you have five minutes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  Thank you.


Mr. Lister, I wanted to turn to something that you said to Mr. Shepherd.  You indicated that if the SEIM had been in existence last year, the company would not have qualified; is that correct?


MR. LISTER:  Yeah, what I was referring to is in the 2013 case we had provided an undertaking exhibit that tried to quantify all of the productivity benefits that we could think about and put before the Board.


Based on that and based on the response to the undertaking that Mr. Shepherd was taking me to, we -- based on that information alone, we would not have qualified, was the point I was making.


MS. SEBALJ:  At the end of last year's term -- I believe I was sitting here and you were sitting there -- we had a discussion about this, and the company had not documented its productivity and efficiency gains?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  Is that correct?


MR. LISTER:  So we undertook to try to and that.  And my recollection is it was J1.28 or something around that number.  And so that is what I am referring to.


In that effort, the total numbers wouldn't have equalled the total reward that Mr. Shepherd was pointing to, so we would not have theoretically qualified.


MS. SEBALJ:  In fact, it became clear that you weren't tracking productivity and efficiency during the period?


MR. LISTER:  That's true.  And we undertook a commitment to better our efforts on that front.


MS. SEBALJ:  Just quickly with respect to Z factor, as I understand it, what you told -- I think it was Mr. Ryckman -- Mr. Shepherd this morning was essentially that -- you gave this example of a defect that results in significant expenditures on the part of the company to replace pipe.


I am trying to understand -- and you said it.  You said that there is no bright line, but I am having a hard time.  It seems that for me the pendulum has swung the other way, where I can't think of an example where the company would be able -- would not qualify for a Z factor treatment, if indeed what we're saying -- and I think it is what you said –- is that large CAPEX system-wide refurbishment, replacement, would indeed qualify for Z factor treatment in such a case.  I am not sure what wouldn't qualify.


Can you help me with that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, I think when I look at the wording around "unexpected" and "non-routine," when I think of unexpected, I think of things such as material defects, critical component failures, those sort of things that are over and above what we set out as the variable costs in this proceeding.


When I think of non-routine things, I think more of what I think we traditionally think of in the context of Z factors: legislative changes, orders from TSSA, changes in regulation, those sort of things.


So again, if it is managing the day-to-day business and we're operating within the variable costs that we have said we're going to accept that risk, then that is how we have managed the business on a go-forward basis.


So for instance, if -- the example I used was amp fittings.  If we had to change 400,000 of them out suddenly, a very costly and very significant issue, but, again, if the pacing of them had to accelerate just a little bit, those sorts of things, we would look to manage those things as we do today.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thanks.


I think we are going to go to...


MS. CONBOY:  If it is a quick one?


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, yes, it is an important one.  On the SEIM issue, and I apologize, everything is based on an NPV and we are going out 10 years in your example.


What will happen if the productivity gains do not materialize?  So you have been given a reward in 2019 and 2020 for a hypothetical example, but at the end of the day the NPV is negative.


MR. LISTER:  What we are proposing is that through the annual productivity initiatives reporting, that would, first of all, be transparent to everybody.  We would file that annually, and it would be up to Enbridge to be able to fully justify the projects it has made and the assumptions it has made around its forecasts.


And what we are proposing is that any party could take any position to challenge any of those forecasts.  But at the end of it all, if Enbridge can satisfy the Board that the forecasts are reasonable, then that would entitle us at least to meet that piece of the puzzle, and there would be other pieces to meet, as well, but that would entitle us to the reward.


MS. SEBALJ:  So you keep the cash, even though no -- there was no benefit whatsoever to ratepayers?


MR. LISTER:  Again, it would be based on a reasonable forecast, and if the Board wasn't satisfied that that forecast was reasonable or it contained a lot of uncertainty, then the Board would be free to say that Enbridge didn't in fact qualify.


MS. SEBALJ:  No.  But that is at 2018, at rebasing -- sorry, 2019 at rebasing.


MR. LISTER:  2019.


MS. SEBALJ:  But I am talking about five years later when your NPV is not what you said it would be.  So you have already got the reward in your pocket.  What you're saying is, if it was approved by the Board, the forecast was reasonable, intervenors had their say, you get to keep the reward even though there is no gain?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think there is two things that I would comment in that regard.  One is we are not looking to be incented or rewarded for things that we don't do.  So the reasonableness of those forecasts become important.


But having said that, we are not anticipating that we go back and review year over year NPVs that could range 15 years year after year.


The administrative burden associated with that, in my view, would exceed any potential benefit that you would generate through that mechanism.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, thanks.  Those are all of our questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  We will take a break until five after, and then, Mr. Quinn, you are up.

--- Recess taken at 2:48 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:23 p.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, everyone.  Please be seated.


Mr. Quinn, please go ahead.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you.  Just one preliminary matter as I start off.  After some dialogue with Enbridge over the last couple of weeks and trying to reduce the schedule, I have been looking for some information, some data on their gas supply program which supports the settlement agreement that went in place last fall.


And I am just trying to get on the record when Enbridge will give us a formal response to that, and it may contribute to us being able to reduce some of our cross-examination for the gas supply panel.


MS. CONBOY:  Have we got the information?


MR. QUINN:  Sorry.  It was put on the record on the weekend.  I submitted a formal letter.  It was just requesting the information.  Enbridge has had it for a couple of weeks, but I wanted to make sure it was on the record and then we get a formal response that would be put on the record.  Ideally, it reduces hearing time as a result.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So you are asking them to confirm the figures; is that...


MR. QUINN:  Confirm the figures and fill in those that are missing at this time.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. QUINN:  That have actually been -- for the months that have actually -- are historical, and they can forecast those that aren't.


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Ms. Sebalj?


MS. SEBALJ:  Are you asking for an undertaking?


MR. QUINN:  No.  I'm just -- would it be appropriate, Ms. Sebalj, to put it as an undertaking?  I was looking for a response from them in terms of when they would produce it.


MS. SEBALJ:  I need to hear from them, obviously, whether they're willing to do that.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I don't think this witness panel can address the issue that's been raised.


I don't think an undertaking can be given either, without something clearly stated on the record, with the actual witnesses here able to consider whether it is appropriate for an undertaking.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  The company, Enbridge, has been attempting to work with Mr. Quinn to give him the information he wants, and the company expects to be able to provide the information to him by the middle of next week.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So we've got this on the record now.  It has been filed.


It looks to me that questions associated with the information that you are requesting would go to panel 11.


MR. QUINN:  Panel 11, yes.


MS. CONBOY:  Is that correct?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Correct.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So perhaps in order to assist Mr. Quinn for when he is ready to cross-examine panel 11, the sooner the company can get back to Mr. Quinn in terms of that information, when that information will be available, he will be able to appropriately cross-examine panel 11.


MR. CASS:  Yes, indeed, Madam Chair.  It is expected for the middle of next week that the company can provide that for Mr. Quinn.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  So at this time it doesn't need any exhibit number or an undertaking number, and we will take it from there.


MR. QUINN:  Great.  Thank you have very much.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, witness panel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.


I wanted to just start off following up Ms. Sebalj's discussion with you on the SEIM prior to the break.


The questions were asked about the forecast, but I guess what I was waiting to hear and I believe is a fact -- I am looking for confirmation from the witness panel -- Enbridge does not intend to actually measure the savings.  They are just going to forecast the savings; is that your proposal?


MR. LISTER:  Yes, that is correct.  We do state in our prefiled evidence that the obvious difficulty associated with trying to actually measure benefits as they occur, we might have to wait 10 or 20 years to do that.


So that necessarily leaves us with forecasting the benefits, and subject to review by all parties.


MR. QUINN:  So you don't believe any kind of validation or measurement is required?


MR. LISTER:  We also state in our prefiled evidence that we considered introducing a process by which a third party could evaluate or audit the forecasts.  In our opinion, that increases the level of bureaucracy and inefficiency of the process.  It is not intended.


If the Board directed us to do that, we would do it, but it is not our preference.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


In the most recent filing of evidence -- from Tuesday, I believe it was -- there was about 150 pages of evidence, but I am just going to draw your attention to what was submitted at A2, tab 1, schedule 3; if that could be brought up.


I was trying to understand what the differences are, and I guess that is my first question:  Was there anything filed in terms of what changes were made to the evidence to aid us in terms of knowing what we should be paying special attention to?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, Mr. Quinn, could you repeat your question?  Was there anything filed that specifically states where evidence was changed?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  I don't believe so.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then I just want to -- if we can go to A2, tab 1, schedule 3 on page 2, now, this is the evidence from Tuesday, and if I am reading -- and I think I can still read from here -– 2014, the system integrity, is that number 248 for the value in the bar chart for 2014?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, I have done the comparison, and Bonnie may have it, but going back to your June 28th filing of this, my -- when I read that same number, I read 153 as compared to 248.


Can you help me with what drove that significant change between the two filings?  And if necessary, by way of undertaking just provide a list of changes that contributed to that?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, I don't offhand know what the changes were, but the totals are the same.


My understanding was there was a regrouping of the capital expenditures into the various categories, but the specifics, I don't know.  I am not sure if anyone else on the panel knows that.


MR. QUINN:  I went through what was provided in the package.  I couldn't find any descriptors to speak to what I perceive is a fairly significant change between 153 and 248.  Possibly, then, Enbridge could take an undertaking to show the regroupings, as you called them, Mr. Fischer.  Would that be a way of handling it?


MR. LISTER:  Mr. Quinn, would it be helpful if we undertook to provide a summary of what changed in this piece of evidence?


MR. QUINN:  Sure, a summary of what's changed.  And Mr. Fischer used the word "regrouping"; if you can show us the before and after, I think that would be helpful for us to understand.


MR. LISTER:  Yes, we will do that.


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.8.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  No, it is my 1.9.  My apologies.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  EXPLAIN CHANGES IN 2014 SYSTEM INTEGRITY NUMBER.


MR. QUINN:  Then referring back to Exhibit K1.2, you went through a lot of this with Mr. Shepherd this morning, and so I am not going to try to repeat any of that, but I would ask you to turn up page 6 of that, under the evidence of productivity.


This has been an area I am still struggling with, because I continue to understand that the company's position is that there were many iterations of and revisions to their capital forecasts.  In fact, some of the detail is in evidence up to review 6.


But would you agree with me that adds and subtracts of projects, adding a project here, taking away a project there, can change the total for the capital, but it does not provide any certainty in terms of the level of rigour or the accuracy, or I guess -- I'm going to state this question better.


Would you agree with me that the adds and subtracts of projects don't give us an understanding of the level of reductions that were made to any of the specific projects to remove scope from the project, or to reduce unnecessary contingencies?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Mr. Quinn, I would say that the capital panel, when they come forward, they would be able to provide you with lots of examples and insights into that.  So I would look to defer that.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Maybe that is the better panel to follow this line of questioning with.


So those are my questions for today.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.


Mr. Brett, I have you down for 90 minutes.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MS. CONBOY:  Do you still need 90 minutes?


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I do.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Good afternoon, panel.  I wonder -- you had just, I think, agreed to give a summary of the changes to the evidence in the one section you were asked about by Mr. Quinn, the graph showing the updated amounts.


Could you undertake to give -- is that going to extend to the other pieces of this evidence, as well?  This just came in on Monday and there was no underlining in it, no black lining, nothing, and it is really impractical to try to go through this, given the other demands of preparation.


So I would like to ask you if you would undertake to summarize any changes, the changes in any of these exhibits.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, just by way of clarity, the document is not black lined, but as we can see from the page that is on the screens in front of me -- in front of us, the changes to the evidence are identified with a "U" on the right-hand side.  I believe that stands for "update".


So while it is true there isn't black lining there, there is identification of where changes occurred.


MS. CONBOY:  Would it be difficult, Mr. Cass, though, give us a little bit more than just the "U" in terms of an update and point to us what is it that's been updated?


MR. CASS:  I don't know whether it would be difficult or not.


MS. CONBOY:  Is it a number, or is it a calculation?


MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, I am told it can be done, so...


MS. CONBOY:  Great.  So if we can mark that as an undertaking, please, and that is just to -- wherever we see there is a noted update, if you could -- if Enbridge would provide us with what it is that is being updated, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  Just to be clear, that is with respect to everything in the February 18th package, not...


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO PROVIDE CLARIFICATION OF FEBRUARY 18, 2014 UPDATED EVIDENCE.


MR. BRETT:  The other package is just -- the 19th is just CVs, so I think that is self-evident, but it is the 18th package.


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.10.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  Could I just interject?  Sorry, I had actually asked Enbridge for an update and it was sent to me only, just of what the nature of the update is from Ms. Adams, so it is out there and it might be good to have it as soon as possible in terms of -- so I received an e-mail on February 19th at 9:22 a.m. and setting out the updated evidence, what has changed, if that is useful.  I wasn't sure if Enbridge was aware of that.


MR. FISCHER:  We will start there.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Just as an aside, I also asked but didn't receive anything.  I look forward to getting the same thing that was sent to Ms. Girvan or --


MS. CONBOY:  We will make sure you get the same treatment, Mr. Brett.


MR. BRETT:  Well, that's all I want.  That is all I want.


Okay.  Well, at the risk of hammering this to death and because it is fresh in everybody's minds, I am going to deal for a moment -- I am a little out of sequence in my cross-examination, and I plan to proceed on a number of topics and I will flag each topic change as I go through so you can follow what I am doing.


My questions are really all based on the evidence in the case, particularly the evidence that this panel is directly responsible for.  But just because we have been talking a lot about SEIM, and I don't want to unduly dwell on this, but I can't help but ask the question -- and you have answered this, but let me ask some sort of a follow-up.


You are telling us here, as I understand it, that you are looking for an incentive to launch sustainable energy efficiency projects, and never mind the formulae and sort of the way in which the ROE works.


I am interested only in one aspect, and that is that you purport to want this incentive without, at the same time, agreeing to measure the actual results; in other words, to verify that what you forecast are going to be benefits to customers really are benefits to customers.  And let me just -- bear with me a moment.


In the calculation of your NPV, you are going to be using forecast benefits, and I think Mr. Norm...  What is your last name?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Ryckman.


MR. BRETT:  Ryckman, sorry.  My apologies.  Norm Ryckman told us a moment ago that it would be too difficult to measure savings benefits stretching into the future, and also said that it would too bureaucratic to try to get a third party auditor to verify this the way we do, for example, in DSM.


My question really is:  How can you -- how can you argue that there are benefits to the ratepayers coming from this proposal when we're not seeing the actual results?  And as an ancillary, what would be so difficult about measuring the actual results of proposed savings?


You're going to have to do it for these other things you are talking about that you say you have embedded in O&M and in capital costs.  What is so difficult whether you have to measure it this year or next year or even five years into the next IMR (sic?)?


You are claiming 10 years of benefits in some cases, forecast benefits.  Why isn't it appropriate that you measure for 10 years what the actual benefits are?  That is my question.


MR. LISTER:  First, I will just direct you to paragraph 25 --


MR. BRETT:  I have read 25.  I read all of your evidence on this case.  Pardon me for interrupting, but that is why I used the preamble that I did.  You have already referred two witnesses to paragraph 25.  I know what paragraph 25 says.  I have memorized it.


The point is why does it make any sense?  Why is it so hard to measure?  I mean, if you pull together four departments in four different buildings and put them in one building you've got some savings there which presumably are measurable, and they're measurable this year and they're measurable for the next 20 years.  What is the problem, I guess?


MR. LISTER:  It would seem to us to be a very inefficient process to set aside resources to measure benefits that may accrue over 20 -- 10 or 15 or 20 years.  And as we explained in our pre-filed evidence, we don't think that that effort is justified.


Again, if the Board preferred us to have the results audited, that is something we could entertain.  But, practically speaking, to measure the results over that quantity of period seems an inordinate exercise.


MR. BRETT:  Well, it doesn't seem inordinate, though, for you to come -- an inordinate exercise for you to come to the Board and ask for money based on forecasts that aren't being verified.  Isn't that inordinate?


MR. FISCHER:  Mr. Brett, what we're anticipating, in terms of the process that will follow with respect to this, is there will be a very thorough investigation by the Board and intervenors in terms of our application for SEIM and the application of this efficiency test.


So the benefits of not having to continue on an annual basis after that, after the end of the IR term, the efficiency gain from that, I think is easily offset if that process that we envision is thorough and the company -- the burden is on the company to demonstrate that those efficiencies are sustainable, and we think that is the more efficient way to go.


MR. BRETT:  Well, all right.  I will come back to the issue of the process.  I take it by the process, you mean the annual productivity enhancement reports that you were discussing earlier with Ms. Sebalj.


But you can have all of the process you like if you are still, as one of you said a moment ago, estimating possible savings, potential savings.  That's precisely my point.


Let me move on.  I want to go back to where I intended to start this proceeding, cross-examination, with sort of a broad policy basis.  That is my first section here.


I would ask you:  You would agree with me that one of the objectives that the Board is trying to achieve in its developing the IRM framework is to contain costs, to contain and to provide incentives for the reduction of costs?  Is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Mr. Brett, I think our understanding of the Board's objectives are set out at Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9 of 40, and that continues over onto page 10 as well.


So one of those objectives is to protect customers from unreasonable price impacts.


MR. BRETT:  You would infer from that that it is implicit in there that one of the things that IRMs do, should do, is keep -- put and keep a downward pressure on costs; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  My view would be that whether it is cost of service or IRM, there is a focus on setting just and reasonable rates, and that doesn't change.


So I would not agree that IRM was constructed just to keep rates down.  There is a number of things that go into that, meeting the needs of customers --


MR. BRETT:  I'm not suggesting it is constructed just to keep rates down.


I think there are three objectives set out that the Board specified for IRMs in its Natural Gas Forum, right?  And there's several other objectives in the statute that are applicable.  I am just asking you to agree that one of the objectives for an IRM program or a –- a cost of service program, but particularly for an IRM program, one of the driving forces for it is to try and keep a downward pressure on costs.


MR. LISTER:  Certainly what we can say for sure is that one of the objectives is to generate sustainable efficiency improvements.


If all else were held equal, that should otherwise result in lower rates.  It doesn't always work out that way.  There may be other pressures that arise, but, absolutely, we agree that the objective is to generate sustainable efficiencies.


MR. BRETT:  You agree, I think, then, that one of the ways you would do this, one of the ways -- one of the ways that you try and generate these efficiency improvements and these enhancements of productivity is by systematically trying to contain and keep downward pressure on costs; is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  My view would be that productivity, again, isn't just one-dimensional.


Cost is absolutely a component of it.  You can be more productive through generating more outputs and generating more revenue.


So I agree it is a component, but, again, I don't view it as being one-dimensional.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Let's go on.


Now, you would agree that a -- you would agree, though, I think, that an IRM program of a 1-X variety with an inflationary index and an X-factor, that one of the effects of that kind of a program will be to put downward pressure on costs, everything else being equal; is that fair?


MR. LISTER:  I think as I was speaking with Mr. Shepherd this morning, I indicated that certainly there is an incentive in an incentive regulation format, where costs are decoupled from revenues to run the business efficiently.


Our concern in particular, as Mr. Shepherd and I were talking, with regard to the SEIM was sometimes the efforts to do -- to be successful in incentive regulation, there's concern or suspicion that there's been cost deferment.  And then you show up at a rebasing case and people believe that you just -- you didn't do the spending in IR and now you want to do it in rebasing.


So our proposal with the SEIM was intended to get right around that, and say:  Well, if we're interested in long-term sustainable efficiencies, let's measure that.


But we would agree that, all else equal, there is an incentive in a decoupled framework to manage the business efficiently.  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, the other aspect of this is the importance of rebasing, and that subject has been discussed.


I wanted to ask you about -- do you agree that one of the -- that whatever kind of a system you have, the idea is you start off an IRM program with a rebasing year and then you have the IRM program, and as the Board has noted in the Natural Gas Forum, at the end of that you have another rebasing.  And the Board has expressed interest, a lot of interest, in the fact that they want to see a robust rebasing.


And I have left you with, through your counsel, a page from the Natural Gas Forum, page 26.  In the middle of that page -- and I know you know this document in general because you have referred to it as sort of one of the cornerstones of your proposal.  But in any event, you say here in the second paragraph:

“During rebasing, the Board will be particularly interested in determining whether the efficiency improvements achieved by the utility are temporary or sustainable.  And it will expect to receive a thorough analysis of this issue.


And:

“The Board also cautions it will take an unfavourable view of sudden and significant increases in costs at the time of rebasing."


So do you read that along with me to mean that the Board will want to see in a rebasing a calculation of the savings that have been realized during the IRM, what the value of those savings are, and then what they would like to see is that those savings are then carried over into the next IRM through that rebasing procedure, so you get to, effectively, a lower starting point, whether you are talking capital or O&M?  Is that your assessment of this?  Is that your interpretation of this?


That is leaving aside any consideration of SEIM here.  I am not talking about SEIM; I am talking about just business as usual, the old fashioned way.  You have a I-X IRM program that you -- let's take the program you had before, 2008 to 2012.


The Board would -- in that sort of a program, they expect to see savings calculated, right?  And documented and then carried forward; is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I believe that is the expectation of not just the Board, but other parties as well, that there will be some sightline to the productivity through the IR term.  It certainly came up in the 2013 case.  And as you may recall, through that process it was determined that we were productive, but the reporting that we had done, or the lack of reporting, was a concern for some parties, and we committed to do productivity reporting that we'll bring forward to the Board every year through the ESM proceedings.


So I would agree with you it is important to have a sightline to those things, and rebasing would be an appropriate time to bring up issues around productivity over the IR term as well.


MR. BRETT:  Now, I just want to summarize.  I am going to go into each of these items separately, but I -- other than the SEIM, which I am finished with.  We have had enough on SEIM, I think.


But basically, your proposal in your 40-page summary which you are responsible for, is that you are generating savings in four ways.


One is through SEIM, one is through the ESM, one is through -- are savings that you say are embedded in your capital budget, your forecast capital budget, and the fourth is savings which you say are embedded in your forecast O&M budgets.


Is there any other source of savings, or are those the four?


Those are the four that I can find.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FISCHER:  I think that is a fair characterization, Mr. Brett.


MR. RYCKMAN:  The only thing that I would add on to that, Mr. Brett, is that through the plan, there is customer growth through the forecast period as well.


So whether you translate to the capital efficiency or O&M or a combination of those, you know, that is something, as well.


MR. BRETT: On that, is it your view that there are economies involved in servicing customer growth; in other words, that you may get a bit of leverage on both the capital or the O&M side by being able to serve more customers with fewer resources?  Is that the notion, or is it the same resources?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I think it lands on both sides.  There will be cost pressures that arise out of that, and hopefully there is economies of scale that we can generate over the IR term, as well, and be more productive in that work.


MR. BRETT:  As a matter of interest, do you show in your evidence economies of scale that you are going to realize over the course of the five years by virtue of the fact that you have this 1.7 percent projected growth?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  I think the capital panel and the O&M panel will be able to share that information with you.


MR. BRETT:  There is nothing that you want to address in this panel?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, not that I am aware of.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  My second topic is a comparison, a very high-level comparison, of this plan of yours and your previous IRM plan.  The reason I am doing this is because you make a statement at paragraph 34 of your summary evidence.  I am going to refer to this by paragraphs, because it is a little easier.  It gets us right into the heart of... Okay, here we go.


The first sentence there:

"There are few differences between the customized IR plan and Enbridge's 1st generation IR plan."

"There are few differences".


Now, your first generation IR plan was a comprehensive IRM plan; right?  It applied to both operating costs and capital costs, and it didn't in any way bifurcate the treatment of them; is that fair?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, it applied to all costs except for certain flow-through Y factor components.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  But there was no distinction between operating and capital costs.  They were treated the same way?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.  The I-X was applied to a distribution revenue requirement, and so, in this plan, we forecasted allowed revenues.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And in that particular plan, you had an I-X, as you say, and I believe -- correct me if I'm wrong, but I believe the I was 2 percent and the X was a sliding scale.


You called it an inflation coefficient, but really what it was was that the X factor was, as I understand it, 60 percent of measured GDP-IPI -- that is, in other words, the measured inflation in 2008 -- declining in equal increments to 45 percent in 2012.


So, in other words, it was a higher -- the X factor was higher at the beginning of the plan and it ended up being -- and it gradually decreased.


Of course the inflation was calculated each year according to the GDP-IPI formula; right?


MR. FISCHER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And so you could say there was implicit X factors -- we don't need to go into that.  I think everybody understands how that worked.


Now, you also -- my recollection was that the cost, the cost of -- return on equity, the ROE, was kept constant for the five years; correct?  In other words it was set on the rebasing year, and then it was left alone for the five years of the plan?


MR. FISCHER:  So not exactly.  So the rebasing year certainly had assumptions with respect to ROE and capital structure.


So the cost of capital component of the requirement for the rebasing year, at least that portion that wasn't recovered through Y factors, would have been escalated by the resulting I-X.


So each component of that revenue requirement that was subject to the formula would have been escalated by the same amount, if you want to put it that way.  But really the proper way to view it is the total amount was escalated, with the total amount comprising all of those components.


MR. BRETT:  Well, in that particular case, and I -- in that particular case, as I understand it, and I -- you had an I-X formula; right?  And your revenues -- sorry.  Yes, it was a revenue per capita formula.


Now, are you telling me that you -- what you're saying to me is you escalated the base year return on equity by the amount of the formula each year?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. LISTER:  If I could help Mr. Fischer, what he was indicated was there was no explicit adjustment for ROE.


MR. BRETT:  That's right.


MR. LISTER:  But total revenues were applied of which, in the rebasing year, a portion was related to the return.  So, you know --


MR. BRETT:  Yes, but I mean --


MR. LISTER:  -- theoretically, it all might have increased at the rate of I-X.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I think that I -- yes, what I -- let me put it this way.  It is not at all -- the eight-nine-three, or whatever that number was, it was not explicitly changed over the period.  There was not a change.  There was not a forecast increase in the ROE over the five-year period?


MR. LISTER:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.


MR. RYCKMAN:  But if I could just add to that, for clarity, what Mr. Lister and Mr. Fischer are saying is that to the extent your cost of capital is part of your allowed revenues and your allowed revenues are being impacted by I-X, there is an increase through that process.


So the reason I raise that is there's some discussion that the ROE was fixed.  But the ROE, although it was set at a value at the start, is subject to the escalation of the formula implicitly.  I think that is the difference.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  I think that's fair enough.  Maybe what you could do, just so we are absolutely clear on that, because I don't want this misunderstood -- this is important -- I would like an undertaking.


Could I get an undertaking where you explain what that -- write up an explanation of what you just did, demonstrate how that is dealt with in the previous plan?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We would be happy to do that, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  J1.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  TO PROVIDE COMPARISON OF CURRENT IRM PLAN TO PREVIOUS IRM PLAN.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.


Now, I guess another -- not "I guess."  Another feature of the plan, the 2007 plan, was that there was no forecast -- you didn't rely on forecast of these various cost components; that is to say capital, O&M, taxes, depreciation and cost of capital.  You didn't rely on forecasts of those cost components to generate effectively what you call the allowed revenue, what I would probably call a requirement.


Your allowed revenues under your revenue cap were an amount determined each year by escalating the previous level of revenues by the formula; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's true to an extent, Mr. Brett.  As Mr. Shepherd and I were discussing earlier, there were Y factors that were taken out of the formula and replaced with amounts of Y factors that were separate agreements by --


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I understand the Y factor thing, and there was the CIS and the DSM and the pensions.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  So the residual of the DRR, I will call it, distribution revenue requirement, was escalated by the I-X formula that you referred to.


MR. BRETT:  And there were no capital cost Y factors in the previous plan, no capital project Y factors?  There were no equivalents to the GTA; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, there was within the CIS customer care deal, because there was a CIS asset in that, yes.


MR. BRETT:  Excepting the CIS.  The CIS was a separate deal that had been made sometime previous, right, and had its own --


MR. CULBERT:  My mistake.  We actually had power generation project Y factors, as well.  So those would have been the gas plant power gen Y factors.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that forecasts -- in other words, one of -- all right, that is sufficient.  Let's move along.


So what I wanted to -- the reason I asked you those questions is I wanted to put to you that a reasonable person looking at this thing, not a metaphysician, but a reasonable person looking at this thing -- not a metaphysician, but a reasonable person looking at this thing -- would say your proposed plan is very different from your previous plan.  It's not somewhat similar.  It is not small differences.  It is very different.  It is almost a mirror opposite in some ways.  It is closer to a cost of service plan than it is to your previous plan.  Would you not agree?

I am really taking issue with the statement that there are few differences between -- never mind the cost of service, but that there are few -- I am taking issue with the statement that you can make, come in here and make, that there are few differences between the customized IR plan and Enbridge's first comprehensive IR plan.


To me, that is egregious.  I mean, it is an egregiously misleading statement, and I don't know how you can make that.


MS. CONBOY:  You can make some of these comments in your argument, too, though; correct?


MR. BRETT:  I will, but I would like them to replay because they state baldly in their evidence -- they make a bald proposition in their evidence that these are the same thing, or almost the same thing.  What the hell?  That  is --


MS. CONBOY:  Let's let them answer the question.


MR. FISCHER:  So, Mr. Brett, there are many elements to an IR plan, incentive regulation plan.  And I had discussed some of those in my opening statement this morning.  And the vast majority of those elements are effectively carried over from the first generation IR, you know, things like ESM, Z factor, although we are proposing a revision to the language.  So a lot of those elements that existed in our first generation IR were more or less carried over.


The major difference between the first generation IR plan and ours is how the revenue cap is determined.

So the first generation IR model had a revenue cap, a revenue cap per customer, but it relied on the determination of a revenue cap, as does our customized IR plan, where the major area of difference is how we get there.  They both require the need for productivity to be recognized in the determination of that revenue cap.


With respect to the first generation IR plan, that was done through, effectively, the X, that scheduled factor that you mentioned earlier.  That is how that was done in that plan.


In our customized IR plan, what we're doing is we're relying on a forecast of cost elements, all of them, and we're embedding productivity directly into those cost forecasts.


MR. BRETT:  Can I ask you this?  I take your -- I hear what you are saying.  Would you agree with me that in the I-X plan, the productivitY factor that you are putting forward or that's been -- that defines the plan is much more transparent and much more explicit than it is in your plan?


In other words, it is a number.  We can all look at the number and we can see whether it looks like a reasonable number or not.


As I understand your proposition, you say there are these as-yet-unnamed efficiencies resident somehow in your capital cost forecasts and your O&M forecasts, but what are they?  And what is the dollar value of them?  And how have they been verified?


In the case of I-X, it is pretty straightforward, isn't it?  Would you agree that the I-X productivity treatment is much more explicit than it is in what you are proposing?


MR. LISTER:  I think the way you characterized it, I don't know that we would entirely agree with.


There's certainly a lot of criticism that the development of X-factors is -- if I can use the term -- very black box.  It requires as many jurisdictions of senior PhDs to determine what an X-factor is, and my own opinion is not a lot of people understand all of the moving parts within an X-factor.


So I take a little bit of issue with the characterization that X-factors are simple.  I don't think they are simple at all.  I also think --


MR. BRETT:  I actually asked you whether they were more transparent and more certain, not whether they were simpler.


MR. LISTER:  Well, transparency, I think, goes along with people understanding what it is.  And our view would be there is a lot of concern around how to measure appropriately an X-factor.


With respect to the part of the question that had to do with how, in our plan, we've dealt with productivity and efficiency, I think we have a whole piece of evidence geared towards explaining how productivity and efficiency have been built into the model.


So these will be, as Mr. Culbert was alluding to earlier, these will be directly reportable.  We will be able to track each of these elements.


So I think our plan is quite transparent.


MR. BRETT:  When you say you "will be able to track each of these elements," are you saying that you will be able to measure them and produce dollar values for them on an ongoing basis, year over year?


MR. LISTER:  I think what we have provided is detailed cost forecasts, so we will be able to report where we have landed relative to the cost forecasts.


MR. BRETT:  That's a little different from actually being able to identify where the productivity offsets are, and what the value of them is.


MR. RYCKMAN:  But again, Mr. Brett, the capital panel and the O&M panel will be able to talk to that productivity and, you know, the stakeholders and the Board can decide on that.


MR. BRETT:  But there is nothing more you want to add on that topic at this panel?


I mean, am I right that the rest -- this should go to the subject matter panels, or the –-


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  Are you the policy panel here?  You are in a general way, right?  Or is there one?


MR. CASS:  I don't know, Madam Chair, that there is a policy panel per se.  This panel was intended to address the model, the proposed model, if I can call it that.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.


Now, you were aware, of course, that PEG did an analysis of the -- of at least the first three years of the Enbridge and Union, previous Enbridge and Union plans, and reported to the Board on that April 12th, 2012?  You are aware of that study?


MR. LISTER:  Yes.  We are aware of that study.


MR. BRETT:  And that study is filed in this proceeding somewhere.  Exhibit L, tab 1.  I don't think you have to turn it up.  My question is going to be very high-level.


Now, you are aware that PEG evaluated the plans and that they evaluated them against the criteria that they felt the Board was laying on the plans, the criteria, the objectives that the Board wanted to achieve; correct?


MR. LISTER:  I don't recall specifically, but I will accept, subject to check, that that was PEG's modus operandi, was to assess the plans relative to the objectives.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.


The objectives, we have talked about.  The first of the objectives in the PEG analysis, and this was at page 2 of the -- PEG produced an executive summary of four or five pages, and they listed the -- what they thought the objectives of the Board were.


They're the same objectives that you have set out in your document, your policy document: incentive regulation conducive to capital investment, companies provide appropriate service quality to their customers, customers and shareholders share in the benefits of any efficiency gains, and that the incentive regulation plans encourage cost control and generate productivity and efficiency improvements.


Do you have any difficulty accepting that, subject to check?


MR. LISTER:  Would it be terribly difficult to bring it up?  It doesn't sound like those are our words and it doesn't sound like the those are the words from the --


MR. BRETT:  No, they're not your words; they're PEG's words.  But if somebody can bring it up, that's great.


It's the -- we were told that all of the PEG studies were available here, so I am assuming that includes that one.


So it would be in the early -- it would be -- yeah, that's right.


Now, you have to go back -- well, this is the PEG study we are after here.  Yes, okay.  So there is three or four Roman numerals at the beginning.  If you go into, say, Roman numeral I, and then just scroll down.  Hang on.  Yes, okay, there you have it.  Middle paragraph, "PEG's assessment focussed on the Board's key criteria."  Do you see that?


MR. LISTER:  Yes, we see that.  Where I am just hesitating a little bit, I don't know where those particular words come from.


MR. BRETT:  Oh, no.  I think where they come from is clear.  I'm sorry, it is PEG's analysis.  It is PEG's statement of what it understands to be the -- so I am not asking you where they originate.


MR. LISTER:  That's fine.  Okay, sure.


MR. BRETT:  And do you agree with me, then, that what PEG went on to do was say a plan was -- they only evaluated the first three years, of course, but that's because of the timing.  But they went on to say this the plan essentially -- the plans, the two plans, were successful, generally successful in achieving these objectives.


Are you okay with that?


MR. LISTER:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And they went down the list objective by objective, and you may want to take this subject to check, but they basically said -- let me see if I can get the actual cite here.


Yes.  Well, first of all, could you turn up V, just scroll down to Roman numeral V here?


Okay, not too fast.  Yes, okay, Roman numeral VI.  So you see there they're talking about -- it concludes:

"PEG concludes the IR plans satisfied the Board's criteria of encouraging cost control, productivity improvements..."


And then also below that, that the customers and shareholders share in the benefits of the efficiency gains.


Could you scroll down one more, please?  There is another paragraph I would like to -- one more out of seven.


Yes, okay.  What I wanted to see was show you the first line in the first full paragraph:

"PEG also finds that the IR plans satisfy the Board's criterion of being conducive to capital investment.  The companies are generating healthy and generally increasing returns under IR."


And that, I guess, was confirmed in the discussion earlier today.  Then they go on to say in the next paragraph:

"Our analysis also shows that Union has experienced stronger productivity gains under IR than EGD."


Now, could you go back to Roman numeral III, please?  Thanks very much for this.  This is very helpful.  Okay, just a little further down.  Yes.


All right.  Unfortunately, I don't have exactly the paragraph I want here.  I am going to ask you if you could take this subject to check.  Just pursuant to what I just said about the PEG saying that Union had stronger productivity gains than Union over the first three years of the plan, the numbers that PEG gave for those gains were -- and this is May.  You would have to -- you know, 0.93 percent per annum increase in total productivity for consumers, so almost 1 percent per year over the three years of the plan, and for Union, 1.70 percent.


Do those numbers -- do you recognize those numbers at all, or could take them subject to check?  And I will be the first to apologize if they're not correct.


MR. LISTER:  I think we could take them subject to check.  I just want to ensure we understand what we're taking subject to check.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. LISTER:  These would be the TFP?


MR. BRETT:  You're taking the TFP increase over the years considered by -- over those years of the IRM which were dealt with in the study.


MR. LISTER:  So it was 0.93 for Enbridge and 1-point-something-else for Union?


MR. BRETT:  1.70 for Union.


MR. LISTER:  Okay.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, could you go back, please, to Roman numeral VI once more?  Okay.  If you could look at the top, the very first partial paragraph:

"There are also some downward trends in service quality performance on some indicators for EGD, although this is not true of Union.  Overall PEG concludes that Union is consistently satisfying the standards that the Board has established for appropriate service quality performance while EGD is not."


Do you see that?


MR. LISTER:  We see that.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Brett, we would find your cross-examination a lot more useful if you could get to a question, please.  Get directly to your question, please.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Do you agree that -- do you agree with that conclusion?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RYCKMAN:  I wouldn't agree that it was a downward trend.


There's no question we had some challenges, and these challenges are outlined in the evidence under A2, tab 11, schedule 1.  You know, examples of those challenges were, with the implementation of CIS, we had some billing challenges that we had.  In terms of meter reading, we had periods where there was a lot of snow and we had a high number of inside meters and inaccessible meters in some cases.


The other thing, when you look at, for instance, time to reschedule missed appointments, if you look at page 2 of that exhibit, paragraph 5, although we missed the window on rescheduling appointments, we overachieved on meeting appointments.  So the example they use in the last sentence, it should be noted that the number of missed reschedules represent 0.2 percent or roughly 102 out of 46,319 appointments for 2012.


So I would say there is no question we had some challenges, but I wouldn't describe it as a "trend."


MR. BRETT:  All right, thank you.


Now, would you agree that what you -- the way you had determined your allowed revenue is by, as you put it, summing together for each year -- what you do is for each of the five years, you take a forecast of the four components of the cost of service, which are depreciation, cost of capital, taxes and operating costs.


These are the amounts that you sum up in each year to provide what you call an allowed revenue; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's the end result of the process, our budgeting process, which is as a result of capital spending and all of our activities required to service customers, a forecast of our operating costs, et cetera.  So, yes, the end product is those four areas summarized in terms of costs that are added together to determine what our allowed revenue stream is.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And that includes -- now, what you do then is you -- you said you encourage –- those numbers, those capital cost numbers and O&M numbers have embedded efficiencies in them, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  There have been productivity measures embedded in them.

MR. BRETT:  And you have Y factors on top of that, which are outside that regime, and the Y factors are some of the ones that are carried over from before -- cost of pensions, CIS, DSM -- but you have also introduced in this proceeding three new Y factors dealing with three large capital costs.  Right?  One for the GTA; correct?

MR. CULBERT:  In our evidence, we haven't introduced Y factors.  They are resident within our allowed revenue calculation.  So resident within our calculations are the GTA project.  You're correct.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, but they're resident in the sense that you are -- you have asked that they be given variance account treatment, and so are you saying -- let me get this straight.


You're saying these are not Y factors in the conventional sense?  You're saying you have built these – you've built amounts in for these three --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  They are resident within the forecast of costs.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  But you have given -- my mistake.  But what you have provided for is -- you provided or asked for variance accounts for each of these three?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  Not for all three.  Just for the GTA.


MR. BRETT:  No.  But you've asked for variance accounts for the last two years for the system and integrity expenditures and the replacement expenditures; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  We have asked for a variance account for specific categories of CAPEX, which are replacement mains categories and relocation mains.


MR. BRETT:  That is what I just said.


Would you agree with me that those are all significant amounts of money?  In other words, those constitute -- we will get to the details, I suppose, later, but the GTA, the GTA is a very large chunk of your capital budget.  I read it to be roughly 30 percent for 2014 and 40 percent for 2015; is that right?  Approximately?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question, Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  What I am saying here, where I am going here, I guess, is -- well, never mind where I am going.


What I am saying is that the GTA project, the relocation capital expenditures forecast, these are all -- these are forecasts, although in the case of the GTA I guess that it is an approved Board spend level.  But these three capital cost items would constitute a very large part of your total capital cost budget over the next five years; is that not so?


MR. CULBERT:  The GTA forecast costs resident in this application at this point in time are approximately $580 million.  Yes, that is a significant amount of capital.


MR. BRETT:  Roughly 30 percent of your 2014 and 40 percent of your 2015?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  And that project was reviewed in the LTC proceeding just recently, that you might be aware of.


MR. BRETT:  It did, of course.


And so -- and you have again variance account –- you've asked for a variance account around the GTA expenditure?


MR. CULBERT:  We have asked for a variance account around the GTA expenditure.


MR. BRETT:  And the last two projects are the replacement projects and the integrity and reliability expenditure projects.  And what is your estimate of the capital cost of those, each of those, over the next five years?

MR. CULBERT:  The variance account requests that we have included in this application are only for 2017 and '18, Mr. Brett.


So we have forecast amounts for those types of, I will say, work or categories of work for each of the first three years, and we have proposed that we're living with the impacts of those inside of our allowed revenue calculations.


What we have said was in years '17 and '18, because it is so far out and because of the challenges that our entity faces with respect to the Metrolinx projects that are ongoing in the GTA and the Pan Am Games and various ILA inspections that are underway currently in our operations, that we don't know what the forecasts of those costs will be in those years.


So our proposals were that if we pierce a requirement amount of 1.5 million, similar to our proposal for the Z factors, our Z factor proposal, that if spending over and above what is resident in our application currently creates a revenue requirement difference of $1.5 million, we would come to the Board seeking approval for recovery of those in those variance accounts.


MR. BRETT:  As a Z factor?

MR. CULBERT:  No.  As a variance account.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  What is your placeholder?  You put a placeholder in for 2017 and 2018 for your capital generally, because as you point out, you can't possibly predict that far out.  What have you put in as a placeholder?

MR. CULBERT:  If you -- my colleague is pointing to an undertaking, TCU2.18.


MR. BRETT:  Yes?


MR. CULBERT:  I believe the projection of spend for those two categories is around 17- to $18 million, currently.


MR. BRETT:  In each of those two years?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  How does that compare with the amounts being proposed in the first three years?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, those amounts are similar --


MR. BRETT:  They're in a graph I think we saw earlier, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  I would have to look to the evidence.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  But I think -- I won't ask you to confirm, but my recollection is it was around 225 million each.


Let me ask you this.  When you say 17 million over -- in those years, that seems like a very low number relative to what you appear to be spending in the earlier years.


MR. CULBERT:  These are just for two specific categories of system integrity work, Mr. Brett.  These are for relocations and replacements, not the entire system integrity.


MR. BRETT:  Wait a minute.  There is two different things here.  Replacements are one thing, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's right.


MR. BRETT:  That is where you're required to do some work because TTC, Metrolinx, City of Toronto...


MR. CULBERT:  Those are relocations.


MR. BRETT:  Those are relocations.  All right.

Replacement and integrity spending is a bit of a black box, frankly, I suspect for everybody in this room, but at least it is for me.  But --


MR. CULBERT:  I am not sure I would characterize it as that.  There is a capital panel coming up that can explain all of the capital --


MR. BRETT:  The point is what -- that number is -- let me put it this way.  You are aware of the GTA project in a general way?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  You're aware, I think, that the GTA project, half of it, the schedule B part, was characterized, at least in part, as replacement- and reliability-driven.


In other words -- I don't think it is any secret.  I think everybody here knows it.  Some of that work was done to lower pressures below 30 SMYS in the Don Valley line and the NPS 26 line.


So that in itself is a reliability expenditure, by any accurate sort of layman's way of putting it, is it not?  Or are you arguing something else?


MR. CULBERT:  That project, in and of itself, was reviewed in the LTC proceeding.  I can't speak to all of the details of it myself.  That has happened.


The projects we're referring to are different projects completely, that might come up about as a result of replacement activities, inspections of various other lines besides the GTA project and relocation mains.  They're completely different things that might come about, Mr. Brett.


MR. BRETT:  But you don't know what they're going to be yet, do you?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  That is the whole point of the variance account request.
Procedural Matters:

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Maybe that is a good spot to end if we're...


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. BRETT:  I don't want to run over too much.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

We will start up with you again tomorrow morning, Mr. Brett, but I do encourage you, please, to review your cross-examination and be direct with your questions, please.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Fine.  Thank you.  I will.


MS. CONBOY:  Before we break for the day, I would like to give some instruction for our second panel that we will swear in tomorrow, and that is the panel of experts, just in terms of process.

So we have done this in previous proceedings, and I am referring, in particular, to the time that we did the equity thickness joint panel.  We will do something similar.

So first off, we will swear in the three witnesses.


Now, I understand that someone may have some questions of Mr. Coyne with respect to the scope of his work that he was retained for, and I think that these questions are best posed right up front, so after the witnesses have been affirmed.  If there are any questions of Mr. Coyne, we will hear them at that point.


We will ask the witnesses to adopt their evidence.  Each expert will be given an opportunity to provide a short opening statement; about 10 minutes each, please.  We will start with Mr. Coyne, Ms. Frayer, and then Dr. Kaufmann.  Then we will open it up to cross-examination.  I think we have at least an agreement on who is going first -- oh, no, we don't.  We have three -- on the spreadsheet three marked in yellow.  So if I could ask you, please, before we start tomorrow, to try and agree on an order of cross-examination.  If not, we will be happy to assist you in that regard.


So the party cross-examining the experts will be able to ask for clarification from any of the other two experts, and we of course, as well, the Panel, may have some clarifying questions while cross-examination is being undertaken.


On re-examination, the Board Panel may ask the expert that was not being re-examined to respond to one or more aspects of the re-examination.  So hopefully that helps you out.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I have just one question, if you don't mind.


I didn't propose any examination-in-chief for Enbridge's experts.  I appreciate you have allowed each expert a few minutes for an opening statement.


Would it be the Board's thought that there is any need to go through qualifications?  I gathered from the procedural order that that was not intended, to take the time with the questions one would do to go through the qualifications of the experts.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.  You are correct we did ask for that in a procedural order.  We do understand, though, that there may not be questions of qualifications, but it will come as no surprise through the technical conference that there may be questions with respect to the scope of work that Mr. Coyne was asked to undertake for Enbridge.


We will permit those questions.  If there are questions of qualification after that, we will deal with it at that point.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  And tomorrow I also hope to set out a timetable for argument-in-chief and reply arguments.


However, unless there are any matters that people would like to bring up, we will adjourn until 9:30, and the witness panel is still under oath until tomorrow, please.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:36 p.m.
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